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We have reviewed the Independent Auditor’s Report of the Central Ohio Transit Authority,
Franklin County, prepared by Clark, Schaefer, Hackett & Co., for the audit period January 1,
2015 through December 31, 2015. Based upon this review, we have accepted these reports in
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the accompanying financial statements and, accordingly, we are unable to express, and do not
express an opinion on them.
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of State, regulations and grant requirements. The Central Ohio Transit Authority is responsible
for compliance with these laws and regulations.
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CPAS & BUSINESS CONSULTANTS

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS
BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

Board of Trustees
Central Ohio Transit Authority
Columbus, Ohio 43215

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the Central Ohio
Transit Authority (the Authority), which comprise the balance sheet as of December 31, 2015 and the
related statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position and cash flows for the year then
ended, and the related notes to the financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated June
10, 2016, wherein we noted the Authority adopted the provisions of GASB Statements No. 68 and 71 for
the year ended December 31, 2015.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Authority's internal
control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority's internal control. Accordingly, we
do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority's internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.
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Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Authority's financial statements are free
from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws,
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material
effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance
with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an
opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are
required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards in considering the Authority’s internal control and compliance.
Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

Clark, faéaafe/g Hackett & Os,

Springfield, Ohio
June 10, 2016



CPAS & BUSINESS CONSULTANTS

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR
EACH MAJOR FEDERAL PROGRAM; REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL
OVER COMPLIANCE; AND REPORT ON THE SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES
OF FEDERAL AWARDS REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE

Board of Trustees
Central Ohio Transit Authority
Columbus, Ohio 43215

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program

We have audited Central Ohio Transit Authority’s (the Authority) compliance with the types of compliance
requirements described in the OMB Circular Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and
material effect on each of the Authority’s major federal programs for the year ended December 31, 2015.
The Authority’s major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.

Management’s Responsibility
Management is responsible for compliance with federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and
conditions of its federal awards applicable to its federal programs.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the Authority's major federal
programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted
our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued
by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of
Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit
Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Those standards and the Uniform Guidance
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance
with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect
on a major federal program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the
Authority's compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances.

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major
federal program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the Authority’s compliance.

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program

In our opinion, the Authority complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the
year ended December 31, 2015.

14 east main street, ste. 500
springfield, oh 45502
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Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

Management of the Authority is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over
compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning and performing our
audit of compliance, we considered the Authority's internal control over compliance with the types of
requirements that could have a direct and material effect on each major federal program to determine the
auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
compliance for each major federal program and to test and report on internal control over compliance in
accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Authority's internal control over compliance.

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a
federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a
deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a
reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal
program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in
internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over
compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material
weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However,
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the
Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

Report on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance

We have audited the financial statements of the Authority as of and for the year ended December 31,
2015, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Authority’s basic
financial statements. We issued our report thereon dated June 10, 2016, which contained unmodified
opinions on those financial statements. Our audit was performed for the purpose of forming an opinion on
the financial statements as a whole. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards is
presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by the Uniform Guidance and is not a required
part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was
derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic
financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit
of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial
statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion,
the schedule of expenditure of federal awards is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the
basic financial statements as a whole

Clurk, Sehaefer, fackett & (o,

Springfield, Ohio
June 10, 2016



CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
Year Ended December 31, 2015

Grantor/Title:

U. S. Department of Transportation
Federal Transit Cluster
Federal Transit Administration (FTA):
Urbanized Area Formula Program

Total Urbanized Area Formula Program
Capital Investment Program

Bus and Bus Facilities Formula Program

Total Bus and Bus Facilities Formula Program

Total Federal Transit Cluster

Transit Services Programs Cluster
U. S. Department of Transportation -
Federal Transit Administration (FTA):
Enhanced Mobility for Seniors and Individuals with Disabilities

New Freedom Program

Total Transit Services Programs Cluster

Total U.S. Department of Transportation

Total Federal Financial Assistance

See notes to schedule of expenditures of federal awards.

CFDA #

20.507
20.507
20.507
20.507
20.507

20.500

20.526
20.526

20.513

20.521

Federal

Grant # Expenditures
OH-90-X786 $ 92,785
OH-90-X829 10,655,655
OH-90-X826 7,264,924
OH-95-X182 1,019,486
OH-95-X168 3,586,500

22,619,350
OH-04-0089 (245,138)
OH-34-0008 129,183
OH-34-0016 338,001
467,184
22,841,396
OH-16-X019 266,137
OH-57-X063 105,031
371,168
23,212,564
23,212,564




CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
Year Ended December 31, 2015

1. GENERAL

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (Schedule) presents the activity
of all federal financial assistance programs of the Authority. The Authority’s reporting entity is
defined in Note 1 to the Authority’s financial statements.

The information in this Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S.
Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost
Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Because the
Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of the Authority, it is not intended to,
and does not, present the financial position, activities and cash flows of the Authority for the year
ended December 31, 2015.

2. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING
The accompanying Schedule is presented using the accrual basis of accounting.

3. MATCHING REQUIREMENTS
Certain federal programs require the Authority to contribute non-federal funds (matching funds) to
support federally-funded programs. The Authority has complied with the matching requirements.
The expenditures of non-federal (matching) funds are not included on the Schedule.

4. RELATIONSHIP OF FEDERAL FINANCIAL REPORTS

Amounts reported in the accompanying Schedule agree with the amounts reported in the related
federal financial reports.



Central Ohio Transit Authority
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
December 31, 2015
Section | — Summary of Auditors’ Results

Financial Statements

Type of auditors’ report issued: Unmodified
Internal control over financial reporting:
e Material weakness(es) identified? None noted
¢ Significant deficiency(ies) identified not

considered to be material weakness(es)? None noted
Noncompliance material to financial statements noted? None noted

Federal Awards

Internal control over major programs:

e Material weakness(es) identified? None noted
¢ Significant deficiency(ies) identified not

considered to be material weakness(es)? None noted
Type of auditors’ report issued on compliance for major programs: Unmodified

Any audit findings that are required to be reported in accordance
with 2 CFR 200.516(a)? None noted

Identification of major programs:
Federal Transit Cluster:
CFDA 20.507 — Urbanized Area Formula Grants

CFDA 20.500 — Capital Investment Program Grants
CFDA 20.526 — Bus and Bus Facilities Formula Program

Dollar threshold to distinguish between Type A and Type B programs: $750,000

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? Yes

Section Il — Financial Statement Findings

None noted

Section Il — Federal Awards Findings and Questioned Costs

None noted

Section IV — Summary of Prior Audit Findings and Questioned Costs

None noted



INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT ON APPLYING AGREED-UPON PROCEDURES

The Board of Trustees
Central Ohio Transit Authority
Columbus, Ohio 43215

We have performed the applicable procedures enumerated in the Federal Funding Allocation Statistics
Form (FFA-10), which were agreed to by the Central Ohio Transit Authority (the Authority) and the
Federal Transit Administration (FTA), solely to assist you in complying with the reporting requirements of
the Declarations section of the 2015 Policy Manual, for the year ended December 31, 2015.
Management of the Authority is responsible for compliance with the requirements of the Uniform System
of Accounts (USOA) and Records and Reporting System, Final Rule, as specified in 49 CFR Part 630,
Federal Register, January 15, 1993, and as presented in the 2015 Policy Manual. The Authority’s
management is responsible for the Authority’s accounting records. This agreed-upon procedures
engagement was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The sufficiency of these procedures is solely the responsibility of
the Authority and the FTA. Consequently, we make no representation regarding the sufficiency of the
procedures in the attached appendix, either for the purpose for which this report has been requested or
for any other purpose.

FTA has established the following standards with regard to the data reported to it in the Federal Funding
Allocation Statistics Form of the Authority’s annual National Transit Database (NTD) report:

e A systemis in place and maintained for recording data in accordance with NTD definitions. The
correct data are being measured and no systematic errors exist.

e A system is in place to record data on a continuing basis, and the data gathering is an ongoing
effort.

e Source documents are available to support the reported data and are maintained for FTA review
and audit for a minimum of three years following FTA's receipt of the NTD report. The data are
fully documented and securely stored.

e A system of internal controls is in place to ensure the data collection process is accurate and that
the recording system and reported comments are not altered. Documents are reviewed and
signed by a supervisor, as required.

e The data collection methods are those suggested by FTA or otherwise meet FTA requirements.

e The deadhead miles, computed as the difference between the reported total actual vehicle miles
data and the reported total actual VRM data, appear to be accurate.

e Data are consistent with prior reporting periods and other facts known about transit agency
operations.

The procedures were applied separately to each of the information systems used to develop the reported
vehicle revenue miles, passenger miles and operating expenses of the Authority for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2015 for each of the following active modes:

e Motor Bus — Directly Operated
e Demand Response — Purchased Transportation



The following information and findings came to our attention as a result of performing the procedures
described in the attachment to this report:

None Noted

We were not engaged to and did not conduct an examination, the objective of which would be the
expression of an opinion on compliance with the requirements of the Uniform System of Accounts And
Records and Reporting System, Final Rule, as specified in 49 CFR Part 630, Federal Register, January
15, 1993, and as presented in the 2015 Policy Manual for the year ended December 31, 2015.
Accordingly we do not express an opinion. Had we performed additional procedures, other matters might
have come to our attention that would have been reported to you.

This report relates only to the information described above and does not extend to the Authority’s
financial statements taken as a whole, or the forms in the Authority’s NTD report, other than the Federal
Funding Allocation Statistics Form, for any date or period.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Authority’'s management, the Auditor of

State of Ohio and the Federal Transit Administration and is not intended to be, and should not be, used
by anyone other than these specified parties.

Clark, faéaefe/j Hackett & O,

Springfield, Ohio
June 10, 2016



Section 9 Certification — Agreed-Upon Procedures

1.

Discussed procedures related to the system for reporting and maintaining data in accordance
with the NTD requirements and definitions set forth in 49 CFR Part 630, Federal Register,
January 15, 1993 and as presented in the 2015 Policy Manual. If procedures were not written,
discussed the procedures with the personnel assigned responsibility of supervising the NTD data
preparation and maintenance.

Discussed the procedures with the personnel assigned responsibility of supervising the
preparation and maintenance of NTD data to determine:
e The extent to which the transit agency followed the procedures on a continuous basis,
and
e Whether they believe such procedures result in accumulation and reporting of data
consistent with the NTD definitions and requirements set forth in 49 CFR Part 630,
Federal Register, and January 15, 1993 and as presented in the 2015 Policy Manual.

Inquired of same personnel concerning the retention policy that is followed by the transit agency
with respect to source documents supporting the NTD data reported on the Federal Funding
Allocation Statistics form.

Based on a description of Authority’s procedures obtained in items 1 and 2 above, identified all
the source documents which are to be retained by the Authority for a minimum of three years.
For each type of source document, selected three months out of the year and observed that each
type of document exists for each of these periods.

Discussed the system of internal controls with the person responsible for supervising and
maintaining the NTD data. Inquired whether individuals, independent of the individuals preparing
source documents and posting data summaries, review the source documents and data
summaries for completeness, accuracy and reasonableness and how often such reviews are
performed.

We did not review selected source documents to ascertain whether signatures were present as
the Authority does not review hard copy documents. Data is prepared using the scheduling and
Automatic Passenger Counters (APC) system. The annual analytical review is performed online
by someone independent of the data entry in lieu of signatures. Evidence of this online review
and other review of electronic reports was noted.

Obtained the worksheets utilized by the Authority to prepare the final data that is transcribed onto
the Federal Funding Allocation Statistics form. Compared the periodic data included on the
worksheets to the periodic summaries prepared by the Authority. Tested the arithmetical
accuracy of the summaries.

Discussed the Authority’s procedures for accumulating and recording passenger miles traveled
(PMT) data in accordance with NTD requirements with the Authority’s staff, noting that the
Authority uses an estimate of passenger miles based on statistical sampling that meets the FTA's
95% confidence and 10% precision requirements. The Authority uses an alternative sampling
procedure and, therefore, we inquired whether the procedure was approved by the FTA.

Discussed with transit agency staff the Authority’s eligibility to conduct statistical sampling for
PMT data every third year. Determined whether the Authority meets one of the three criteria that
allow transit agencies to conduct statistical samples for accumulating PMT data every third year
rather than annually. However, the Authority has elected to conduct statistical samples on an
annual basis.

10



10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

Obtained a description of the sampling procedure for estimation of PMT data used by the
Authority. We were informed that the Authority’s sampling procedures for the estimation of
passenger mile data is substantially as described in the Authority’s letter, submitted to the FTA,
dated April 27, 1987. We noted no exceptions to the stated sampling procedures described in the
above letter.

Obtained the passenger mile sample information generated from the APC system and, based on
this information, recalculated the passenger miles for the year ended December 31, 2015.

Discussed the procedures for systematic exclusion of charter, school bus, and other ineligible
vehicle miles from the calculation of actual vehicle revenue miles with Authority’s staff, noting this
requirement is not applicable to the Authority.

For actual vehicle revenue mile (VRM) data, documented the collection and recording
methodology and determined that deadhead miles are systematically excluded from the
computation.

Compared operating expenses with audited financial data, after reconciling items were removed.

Inquired of personnel reporting the NTD data regarding the amount of purchased transportation
(PT) generated fare revenues. Noted the PT fare revenues agreed to the amount reported on the
Contractual Relationship form (B-30).

Obtained a copy of the PT contract and determined that the contract (1) specified the specific
public transportation services to be provided; (2) specified the monetary consideration obligated
by the transit agency contracting for the service; (3) specified the period covered by the contract
and that this period overlaps the entire, or a portion of, the period covered by the Authority’s NTD
report; and (4) was signed by representatives of both parties to the contract. Inquired of the
person responsible for the retention of the executed contract, and determined that copies of the
contracts are retained for three years.

Compared the data reported on the Federal Funding Allocation Statistics Form to comparable
data for the prior period report year and calculated the percentage change from the prior year to
the current year. Fluctuations greater than 10% were investigated and explained and reported to
NTD.

The following 2015 Policy Manual Section 9 test procedures were not applicable to the Authority
and , therefore, were not performed:

e Reporting Manual Section 9 Data Certification Procedures; n, 0, p, q, t, s, t, w, and y.

11



At Clark Schaefer Hackett, we believe there’s a
difference between providing accounting services and
actually serving you. One is about numbers, the other
is about relationships. We strive to create remarkable
relationships The CSH Way: by building trust, offering
guidance, delivering desired outcomes, and providing

vision to help you achieve your goals.
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June 10, 2016

Board of Trustees of the
Central Ohio Transit Authority and
Residents of Central Ohio:

The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) of the Central Ohio Transit Authority (COTA)
for the fiscal year ended Dec. 31, 2015, is hereby submitted. This CAFR was prepared by the Finance
Division and represents COTA’s commitment to provide accurate, concise and high-quality financial
information to its Board of Trustees, COTA stakeholders and other interested parties

The CAFR contains financial statements and statistical data that provide full disclosure of all the
material financial operations of COTA. The financial statements, supplemental schedules, statistical
information and all data contained herein are the representations of COTA’s management. COTA’s
management bears the responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of this CAFR.

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to COTA for its comprehensive annual
financial report for the fiscal year ended Dec. 31, 2014. This was the 26th consecutive year that COTA
was recognized with the prestigious award. In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a
government agency must publish an easily readable and efficiently organized comprehensive annual
financial report. The report must satisfy both generally accepted accounting principles and applicable
legal requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year. We believe that our current
comprehensive annual financial report continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement Program’s
requirements and we are submitting the accompanying 2015 report to the GFOA to determine its
eligibility for another certificate.



LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL

REPORTING ENTITY
General

The accompanying financial statements comply with the provisions of accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America in that these financial statements include all of the
organization, activities, functions and component units for which the Authority is financially
accountable. Financial accountability is defined as the appointment of a voting majority of the
component unit’s board and either (1) the reporting entity’s ability to impose its will over the component
unit, or (2) the possibility that the component unit will provide a financial benefit to or impose a financial
burden on the reporting entity. COTA does not have financial accountability over any entities, and no
governmental units other than COTA itself are included in the reporting entity. COTA is not included
as a component unit in the reporting entity of any other governmental unit’s financial statements. A
complete discussion of COTA's reporting entity is included in footnote 1 of the financial statements.

COTA is an independent political subdivision of the State of Ohio with its own taxing power. COTA is
not dependent upon appropriations from Franklin County, the City of Columbus or any other political
subdivision for local funding. COTA is empowered by the Ohio Revised Code to issue general
obligation debt secured by its own taxing power.

COTA was created by an agreement executed on Feb. 17, 1971, with Franklin County and the cities
of Bexley, Columbus, Gahanna, Grandview Heights, Grove City, Hilliard, Reynoldsburg, Upper
Arlington, Westerville, Whitehall and Worthington. In 2008, an amended agreement was executed,
which added the city of Dublin to COTA. COTA's territorial boundaries are conterminous with Franklin
County and small portions of Delaware, Fairfield, Licking and Union counties.

COTA’s vision and mission statements are respectively:
COTA will be the region’s transportation leader.

COTA is committed to excellence in serving our stakeholders including customers,
employees and taxpayers. We will deliver quality transportation services and conduct
business courteously, safely, ethically and reliably. We will demonstrate leadership that
is fiscally responsible and environmentally conscientious.

These statements are the focus of all operations and support functions.
Management—Board of Trustees

COTA is governed by a Board of Trustees vested by Ohio law with the powers necessary to manage
COTA. The legislation and agreements establish that COTA provide for a 13-member board serving
overlapping three-year terms. Board membership is apportioned as follows: City of Columbus, seven
members; Franklin County, two members; and four members prorated among the eleven municipal
corporations including Bexley, Dublin, Gahanna, Grandview Heights, Grove City, Hilliard,
Reynoldsburg, Upper Arlington, Westerville, Whitehall and Worthington. The appointments of the
members within the group are rotated among the municipal corporations. Members are appointed by
the mayor of the appropriate municipal corporation with the consent of its city council. The Franklin
County Board of Commissioners appoints the Franklin County representatives.
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Administration

The President/CEO, who is appointed by the Board, directs the administration of COTA, subject to the
policies and supervision of the Board. The President/CEO selects the senior leadership team. A Table
of Organization depicting the key functional responsibilities is shown on page 12 of the introductory
section.

Transportation Services—Fixed-Route Bus Service

COTA provides public transportation services within Franklin County as well as portions of Delaware,
Fairfield, Licking and Union counties that are included within the municipal corporation limits of
Columbus, Dublin, Westerville and Reynoldsburg. In 2015, service included 66 Local, Crosstown and
Express fixed-bus routes as well as the CBUS® downtown circulator.

COTA makes improvements and adjustments to its fixed-route system three times a year. These
changes occur in January, May and September. At the end of 2015, COTA operated 1,045,171
annualized scheduled service hours.

To address increasing customer needs for fixed-route bus service, service changes focus on four key
areas of improvement: increased service frequency, expanded service area coverage, expanded
hours of operation, and decreased travel times. Expanding and modernizing COTA’s fleet of
passenger coaches is an essential component toward initiating these improvements.

At the end of 2015, there were 341 fixed-route buses in COTA's fleet. All new fixed-route transit buses
purchased by COTA are powered by Compressed Natural Gas (CNG). A 12-year conversion program
that began in 2013 will phase all diesel-powered, fixed-route buses out of the fleet. As of December
31, 2015, 104 CNG buses were in COTA's fleet.

Transportation Services—Paratransit Service

Mainstream is a demand-response, shared-ride paratransit service available to individuals whose
disabilities prevent them from accessing COTA's fixed-route bus system. Mainstream provides
transportation when a customer’s origin and destination addresses are within three-quarters of a mile
of an operating fixed-route line. The contracted service for Mainstream operates during the same
hours as fixed-route bus service. Individuals wishing to use the service must complete an eligibility
process and obtain an Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) ID card. Certified customers must
maintain their eligibility by recertifying every three years.

In 2015, Mainstream provided 282,515 passenger trips.
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Ridership
COTA provided 19.2 million (fixed-route and paratransit) passenger trips in 2015.
Other Key Activities in 2015

2015 APTA International Bus Roadeo Grand Champion

In 2015, COTA won the Grand Champion at the 40th Annual International Bus Roadeo, an event that
highlights the best bus operators and bus maintenance teams in North America. The Grand Champion
Award recognizes the transit system with the highest combined bus operator and maintenance team
score. COTA staff members who competed in the event include Bus Operator Howard Yoder, and
Vehicle Maintenance Team members Tom Belcher, Don Readnour and Steve W oods.

2015 Short North Arts District’'s Community Partner Award

COTA was honored with the Short North Arts District’'s Community Partner Award for improving the
quality of transit in and around the Short North Arts District, for working to move the Columbus
community forward through the NextGen planning effort, and for launching the CBUS. Honorees of
the Community Partner Award have deep collaborations with the Short North Arts District resulting in
significant advancement of the District success in commerce and quality of life.

2015 HR Innovation Award from Columbus CEO

COTA was honored with the 2015 HR Excellence Award for HR Innovation by Columbus CEO
magazine. The HR Innovation award is given to an individual or public, private or nonprofit organization
for achieving proven results in areas such as compensation and benefits; employee recognition and/or
retention; strategic alignment; succession planning; talent acquisition and/or assessment; use of
technology; and work-life balance.

In recent years, COTA has successfully implemented an outcomes-based wellness program, working
to change the culture and improve the health and wellness of employees and their families. The
program has helped contain costs, and introduced successful and popular employee wellness
initiatives.

Downtown Employee Pilot Pass Program

In April 2015, COTA began participating in a pilot downtown employer pass program with the Mid-
Ohio Regional Planning Commission (MORPC) and Capital Crossroads Special Improvement District
(SID). The program allows a pilot group of employers to offer downtown employees unlimited access
to COTA services for a 20-month period.

COTA is reimbursed $2 for each Local and Express ride, and the fee is capped at the current Local
31-Daypass rate of $62 per calendar month. COTA is reimbursed $3.50 per ride for Mainstream
service, and also collects a fee of $10 per each ID issued.
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Stand Up 4 Transportation Day

In April 2014, more than 100 transportation supporters gathered at COTA'’s Spring Street Terminal to
‘Stand Up 4 Transportation’ and advocate on behalf of a long-term federal transportation infrastructure
bill. Stand Up 4 Transportation Day, spearheaded by the American Public Transportation Association,
featured events hosted by more than 300 organizations nationwide and highlighted the urgent need
for Congress to renew federal transportation funding before Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21st
Century Act (also known as MAP-21) expired on May 31, 2015. The local event stressed the
importance of long-term, dependable transportation infrastructure funding in central Ohio, the fastest
growing region in the state — with projections for population growth of 500,000 and job growth of
300,000 by the year 2050.

Bus on Shoulder Program Expanded

In September 2015, COTA expanded its Bus on Shoulder program to 1-670 in an effort to encourage
the use of COTA as a faster alternative, reduce traffic and fully utilize the capacity of Central Ohio’s
highway system. COTA buses may use designated shoulder lanes when traffic is stopped or moving
slower than 35 mph. Beginning in September, COTA buses were authorized to travel along the left
shoulder lane/inside berm on 1-670 between Downtown and 1-270 on the east side of Columbus. Since
2006, COTA buses have been authorized to travel in the right shoulder lane/outside berm on 1-70 East
between Downtown Columbus and State Route 256.

Rickenbacker-Area Shuttle Service Launches

In September 2015, the City of Groveport launched the Groveport-Rickenbacker Employee Access
Transit (GREAT) service in partnership with COTA and the Village of Obetz. The service augments
COTA bus service in the Rickenbacker area and provides last-mile service for employees to
businesses located within the City of Groveport and the Village of Obetz.

COTA operates all day service and weekend service to the area on Line 81. GREAT service connects
to COTA's Line 81 on Alum Creek Drive and consists of 3 separate routes that service different COTA
bus stops and businesses.

CMAX Bus Rapid Transit Funding Approved by Congress

In December 2015, COTA's Cleveland Avenue Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) project, called CMAX, was
awarded federal funding when Congress approved the Fiscal Year 2016 omnibus appropriations bill.
The bill includes $38 million in funding for the CMAX.

CMAX, the first BRT line in central Ohio, will transport riders between downtown Columbus north on
Cleveland Avenue to the Ohio Health Medical Center at Polaris Parkway/Africa Road. The project
includes high-frequency, limited stop service between downtown Columbus and SR-161 (10.3 mi.)
and Enhanced Local Bus Stops will enjoy an estimated 21 percent travel time savings over current
Line 1 service. COTA expects a projected 15-20 percent increase in ridership in this corridor over the
first five years of operation. In 2015, COTA completed the final design phase of the CMAX project.
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NextGen

As our region attracts new investment with an estimated 500,000 more people and 300,000 new jobs
by 2050, demand and expectations for transportation are changing. NextGen is COTA'’s long-range
planning effort to identify transit needs and opportunities for 2025, 2040 and 2050.

Extensive public input, as well as a comprehensive review of regional growth projections and
community development plans, took place in 2015. When completed, NextGen will recommend transit
system enhancements, including a prioritized list of bus and rail projects. The final report will feature
estimated costs for these projects, and strategies for implementation by public agencies and the
private sector.

The NextGen plan coincides with the City of Columbus thoroughfare plan, Connect ColumbUS, and
the Mid-Ohio Regional Planning Commission (MORPC) multi-modal Metropolitan Transportation Plan.

Transit System Redesign
The Transit System Redesign (TSR) is a comprehensive realignment of the COTA network designed
to better meet the needs of our growing community.

In 2014, COTA conducted a Transit System Review to evaluate the entire bus network, and
recommend how to maximize service and resources to substantially update and improve service. The
resulting plan that was accepted by the COTA Board of Trustees places a strong emphasis on high
frequency service in high density corridors, connecting major destinations while maintaining coverage
service to suburban and less dense areas, and reallocating service to areas currently underserved.

The TSR is intended to better meet the needs of the community, and make COTA service more
appealing and responsive to both current and potential riders. In 2015, COTA conducted extensive
community outreach and refined the TSR based on public input. Once the TSR is fully implemented
in May 2017, COTA will be easier to use and more convenient for more people, leading to more use
of the system and higher ridership.

Facilities Owned

William J. Lhota Building, 33 N. High St., is a 78,000 square-foot, 10-story office building in
downtown Columbus which houses COTA’s administrative and customer pass sales functions. The
facility also serves as the Downtown coach operator sign-in station.

McKinley Operations, 1600 McKinley Ave., was constructed in 1980, and is the larger of COTA’s two
fixed-route bus operations and maintenance facilities. The facility houses both heavy and light bus
maintenance operations, COTA’s customer information call center, and indoor storage capacity for
240 buses. COTA is renovating the facility in three phases. Phase 3 began in 2014, and includes
renovation of the building lobby, bus wash, operator dayroom and administrative offices. The new
dayroom and two new bus washes will be complete in 2016, and will increase the facility to a 430,000-
square-foot building that meets LEED “silver” specifications. The final phase of the renovation will
focus on the fagcade of the facility and the maintenance shops, and is projected to start in 2017.

Fields Operations, 1333 Fields Ave., opened in September 1984, and is a 283,000 square-foot facility
with storage for 200 fixed-route buses and space for several light-maintenance work areas. Fields
Operations, is the original facility on COTA'’s Fields Avenue Campus and was renovated in 2009.
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Mobility Services, 1330 Fields Ave., is a 104,000 square-foot building housing COTA'’s paratransit
operations. The facility has capacity for 104 paratransit vehicles. All Mobility Services operations,
including reservations, scheduling and dispatching, occur at the new facility. The facility features six
vehicle maintenance bays, two fueling islands and a bus wash. It also houses a state-of-the-art
eligibility assessment center.

Street and Remote Operations, 1325 Essex Ave., is a 12,000 square-foot facility on the Fields
Avenue Campus. The building houses COTA'’s Street and Remote operations.

Linden Transit Center, 1390 Cleveland Ave., is a 20,500-square-foot facility located at the corner of
Cleveland and 11" avenues. The transit center houses a Nationwide Children’s Primary Care Center
to provide neighborhood medical services, a daycare center and other amenities. Two Local and four
Express lines serve the Linden Transit Center.

Easton Transit Center, 4260 Stelzer Rd., is a 1,350-square-foot facility near Easton Town Center.
The facility includes an 8,950 square-foot overhead canopy with four bus bays, 50-vehicle capacity
Park & Ride lot, and adjacent 9,650 square-foot daycare center operated by an independent provider,
leasing the space from COTA. One Local, two Express and three Crosstown lines serve the Easton
Transit Center.

Spring Street Terminal, 33 W. Spring St., is an outdoor facility located on Spring Street between
High and Front streets in downtown Columbus. In 2014 the Spring Street Terminal was renovated to
accommodate CNG buses. An indoor waiting area and ticket vending machine were also added to the
facility. The terminal has six bus bays. Two Local and nine Express lines use the terminal to serve
commuters in the north Downtown area.

Near East Transit Center, 1125 E. Main St., is a 9,600-square-foot facility located at East Main Street
and Champion Avenue in the Columbus Empowerment Zone, an economically disadvantaged area
with high unemployment. The Near East Transit Center includes a Nationwide Children’s Primary Care
Center offering neighborhood medical services, as well as leased, street-level, retail space. The transit
center is served by one Local and one Crosstown line.

Facilities Leased

COTA Transit Terminal, 25 E. Rich St., is a 41,000-square-foot facility opened in November 1989
and serves commuters in the southern Downtown area. The terminal is located in the Columbus
Commons parking garage between Rich and Main streets. In 2014, renovations were completed to
accommodate CNG buses. A number of upgrades and customer amenities were also part of the
renovation. One Local and 22 Express lines serve the terminal.

SERVICE AREA

Franklin County, COTA'’s primary service area, is located in Central Ohio. The City of Columbus,
Ohio’s largest city and state capital, is located within its boundaries. The Columbus Metropolitan
Statistical Area (MSA) consists of eight counties: Delaware, Fairfield, Franklin, Licking, Madison,
Morrow, Pickaway and Union. Based on data from the U.S. Census Bureau (2010), the combined
area’s population is 1,836,536 with Franklin County’s population of 1,163,414 making it the MSA’s
largest county in terms of population.
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Population

Population in COTA's primary service area since 1970 is as follows:

Year Columbus Franklin County
1970 540,025 833,249

1980 565,032 869,126

1990 632,910 961,437

2000 711,470 1,068,978

2010 787,033 1,163,414

2015 Estimate N/A 1,251,722

Source: U.S. Census Bureau
ECONOMIC OUTLOOK

While the local economy generally mirrors the national economy, Franklin County has remained stable
as aregional economic center. Columbus is the most populous city in Ohio and only major municipality
in the state experiencing population growth. This is attributed in part to Columbus’ aggressive
annexation policies and a pro-growth economic emphasis in city government. Franklin County’s
sizable institutional component, stemming from the presence of Ohio’s capital and The Ohio State
University, lends considerable stability to the local economy. The region’s economy consists of large
professional and service sectors heavy on finance, insurance, education and research industries. The
overall countywide, assessed property valuation continues to increase as a result of vibrant residential
and commercial development. The economic climate of Franklin County directly affects COTA due to
the reliance on sales and use tax receipts, which are COTA’s major source of revenue.

SALES TAX RENEWAL

In November 2006, voters approved a 10-year, renewable 0.25 percent sales tax levy, in addition to
the permanent 0.25 percent sales and use tax, to implement the Long-Range Transit Plan (LRTP)
which included service expansion, fleet upgrades and capital infrastructure investments.

In July 2015, the COTA Board of Trustees passed a resolution signaling their intent to place a levy on
the ballot on November 8, 2016, to renew the expiring 0.25 percent sales and use tax.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Internal Control Structure

The management of COTA is responsible for establishing and maintaining an internal control structure
designed to ensure that COTA’s assets are protected from loss, theft or misuse. Management’s
responsibility is to ensure that accurate accounting data is compiled to allow for the preparation of
financial statements in conformity with generally-accepted accounting principles.

In developing and evaluating COTA'’s accounting system, emphasis is placed on the adequacy of
internal controls. Internal accounting controls are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance regarding the reliability of financial records used to prepare financial statements and
protection of assets against loss from unauthorized use or disposition. The concept of reasonable
assurance recognizes that the cost of the control should not exceed the benefits likely to be derived
and evaluation of costs and benefits requires estimates and judgments by management.



LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL

All internal control evaluations occur within the above framework. Management trusts that COTA’s
internal accounting controls adequately safeguard assets and provide reasonable assurance that
financial transactions are properly recorded. Management believes that the data in this CAFR, as
presented, is accurate in all material respects and fairly presents the financial position, results of
operations and cash flows of COTA. Management trusts that all disclosures necessary to enable the
reader to gain the maximum understanding of COTA's financial affairs have been included.

Basis of Accounting

COTA's financial records are maintained on the accrual basis of accounting. The activities are
accounted for in a single enterprise, proprietary-type, fund. Additional information on COTA'’s
accounting policies can be found in Note 2 in the Notes to the Financial Statements located on page
30.

Budgetary Controls

The annual accrual basis operation and capital budgets are proposed by COTA’s management and
adopted by the Board of Trustees in a public meeting, typically held in the month preceding a new
fiscal year. The annual budget is prepared using overall guidelines established after consideration of
COTA's long-range financial plan. The plan, updated annually, projects revenue sources over the next
10 years and establishes service levels and growth commensurate with revenue limits.

Management control for the budget is maintained by not permitting total expenditures to exceed total
appropriations without approval of the Board of Trustees. It is the responsibility of each department to
administer its operations in a manner to ensure that the use of funds is consistent with the goals and
programs authorized by the Board of Trustees. Financial statements prepared on a budgetary basis,
in accordance with generally-accepted accounting principles, have been provided on page 46 to
demonstrate budgetary compliance.

OTHER INFORMATION

Independent Audit

COTA's independent certified public accounting firm of Clark Schaefer Hackett has rendered an
unmodified audit report on COTA'’s financial statements for the fiscal year ended Dec. 31, 2015. The
report is included in the financial section of the CAFR.

COTA participates in the federal single audit program, which consists of a single audit of all federally-
funded programs administered by COTA. As a requirement for continued funding eligibility,
participation in the single audit program is mandatory for most local governments, including COTA.
The single audit, performed by Clark Schaefer Hackett met the requirements set forth by the State of
Ohio, federal Single Audit Act of 1984 including the Single Audit Act Amendments of 1996 and related
Office of Management and Budget Circular A-133 (Revised).

Itis the intention of COTA’s management to submit this and future CAFRs for review under the GFOA’s
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting program. Management believes the
current report conforms to the program requirements and expects that participation will result in
continued improvement of COTA’s financial reporting in future years.
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CPAS & BUSINESS CONSULTANTS

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

Board of Trustees
Central Ohio Transit Authority
Columbus, Ohio 43215

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Central Ohio Transit Authority (the Authority), as
of and for the year ended December 31, 2015, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively
comprise the Authority’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of
the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no
such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Central Ohio Transit Authority as of December 31, 2015, and the changes in its financial position,
and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

14 east main street, ste. 500
springfield, oh 45502

www.cshco.com
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cincinnati | cleveland | columbus | miami valley | northern kentucky | springfield | toledo
J J <



Change in Accounting Principle

As discussed in Note 3 to the financial statements, during the year ended December 31, 2015, the Authority
adopted GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions and related GASB Statement
No. 71, Pension Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent to the Measurement Date — an amendment of
GASB Statement No. 68. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.

Other Matters

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that management’s discussion
and analysis (pages 16 through 25) and schedules of proportionate share of net pension liability and pension
contributions (pages 44 through 45) be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Although this
information is not part of the basic financial statements, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board considers
it essential for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.
We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about
the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management'’s
responses to our inquiries, to the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of
the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any
assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the Authority’s basic financial statements. The introductory section, supplemental budget versus actual
schedule, and the statistical section are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part
of the basic financial statements.

The supplemental budget versus actual schedule is the responsibility of management and was derived from and
relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements.
Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the supplemental budget versus actual schedule is fairly
stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of
the basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on them.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated June 10, 2016 on our
consideration of the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that
report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.
That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in
considering the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Clark, Sohaefer, fackett & (o,

Springfield, Ohio
June 10, 2016
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Year Ended December 31, 2015

As the management of the Central Ohio Transit Authority (the Authority or COTA), we offer readers of the
Authority’s basic financial statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the
Authority for the year ended December 31, 2015. This discussion and analysis is designed to assist the
reader in focusing on significant financial issues and activities and identifying any significant changes in
financial position. We encourage readers to consider the information presented here, in conjunction with the
basic financial statements and notes to the financial statements, which follows this section and provides more
specific detail.

Overview of Financial Highlights

e The Authority has net position of $365.3 million. Of this amount, $221.6 million is invested in capital
assets, net of accumulated depreciation and related debt.

e The Authority’s Net Position increased by $37.1 million in 2015 mainly due to increased sales tax
revenue and capital grants.

e Current assets of $181.5 million primarily consist of non-board designated cash and cash equivalents
of $83.2 million, sales tax receivables of $33.7 million, investments of $45.0 million, inventory of $3.5
million, federal capital grant receivables of $6.3 million, and Board designated assets of $6.6 million.

e Current liabilities of $15.3 million primarily consist of accrued payroll and fringe benefits of $6.0
million, and accounts payable of $6.9 million.

e The Authority’s long term liabilities of $45.2 million primarily consists of net pension liability of $43.7
million.

Basic Financial Statements and Presentation

The financial statements presented by the Authority are the Statement of Net Position, the Statement of
Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position and the Statement of Cash Flow. These statements are
presented using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. The
Authority is structured as a single enterprise fund with revenues recognized when earned and measurable,
not when received. Expenses are recognized when they are incurred, not when paid. Capital assets are
capitalized and depreciated, except land and construction in progress, over their estimated useful lives.

The Statement of Net Position on page 26 presents information on all of the Authority’s assets, deferred
outflows of resources, liabilities and deferred inflows of resources with the difference between these reported
as net position. Over time, increases and decreases in Net Position may serve as a useful indicator of
whether the financial position of the Authority is improving or deteriorating.

The Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position, on page 27, presents information
showing how the Authority’s Net Position changed during the year. This statement summarizes operating
revenues and expenses along with non-operating revenues and expenses. In addition, this statement lists
capital grant revenues received from federal and state governments.

The Statement of Cash Flow on page 28 allows financial statement users to assess the Authority’s adequacy
or ability to generate sufficient cash flows to meet its obligations in a timely manner. The statement is
classified into four categories: 1) cash flows from operating activities, 2) cash flows from non-capital financing
activities, 3) cash flows from capital and related financing activities, and 4) cash flows from investing activities.
Notes to the Financial Statements

The notes to the financial statements provide additional information that is essential to full understanding of
the data provided in the financial statements. The notes to the financial statements are on pages 29-43.
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Year Ended December 31, 2015

Financial Analysis of the Authority

Condensed Summary of Net Position

The Authority’s comparative analysis of the condensed summary of Net Position is as follows:

Restated
Description 2015 2014

Assets

Current Assets $ 174,911,441 $ 152,924,533

Board Designated Assets (current) 6,561,276 6,483,785

Total Current Assets 181,472,717 159,408,318
Board Designated Assets (non-current) 15,137,183 15,081,237
Capital Assets (net of accumulated depreciation) 221,585,618 208,365,365
Total Non-Current Assets 236,722,801 223,446,602

Total Assets 418,195,518 382,854,920
Deferred outflows of resources 8,423,604 5,541,649
Liabilities

Current Liabilities 15,309,540 15,972,731

Non-Current Liabilities 1,500,736 1,363,112

Net Pension Liability 43,734,920 42,862,731

Total Liabilities 60,545,196 60,198,574
Deferred inflows of resources 821,277 -
Net Position

Net Position Invested in Capital Assets 221,585,618 208,365,365

Net Position Unrestricted - Restated 143,667,031 119,832,630

Total Net Position $ 365,252,649 $ 328,197,995

During 2015, the Authority adopted GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Pensions — an Amendment of GASB Statement No. 27, which significantly revises accounting for pension
costs and liabilities. For Reasons discussed below, many end users of this financial statement will gain a
clearer understanding of the Authority’s actual financial condition by adding deferred inflows related to
pension and the net pension liability to the reported net position and subtracting deferred outflows related to
pension.

Governmental Accounting Standards Board standards are national and apply to all government financial
reports prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. When accounting for pension
costs, GASB 27 focused on a funding approach. This approach limited pension costs to contributions
annually required by law, which may or may not be sufficient to fully fund each plan’s net pension liability.
GASB 68 takes an earnings approach to pension accounting; however, the nature of Ohio’s statewide
pension systems and state law governing those systems requires additional explanation in order to properly
understand the information presented in these statements.

Under the new standards required by GASB 68, the net pension liability equals the Authority’s proportionate
share of each plan’s collective:

1. Present value of estimated future pension benefits attributable to active and inactive employees’ past

service
2. Minus plan assets available to pay these benefits
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Year Ended December 31, 2015

GASB notes that pension obligations, whether funded or unfunded, are part of the “employment exchange” —
that is, the employee is trading his or her labor in exchange for wages, benefits, and the promise of a future
pension. GASB noted that the unfunded portion of this pension promise is a present obligation of the
government, part of a bargained-for benefit to the employee, and should accordingly be reported by the
government as a liability since they received the benefit of the exchange. However, the Authority is not
responsible for certain key factors affecting the balance of this liability. In Ohio, the employee shares the
obligation of funding pension benefits with the employer. Both employer and employee contribution rates are
capped by State statute. A change in these caps requires action of both Houses of the General Assembly
and approval of the Governor. Benefit provisions are also determined by State statute. The employee enters
the employment exchange with the knowledge that the employer’'s promise is limited not by contract but by
law. The employer enters the exchange also knowing that there is a specific, legal limit to its contribution to
the pension system. In Ohio, there is no legal means to enforce the unfunded liability of the pension system
as against the public employer. State law operates to mitigate/lessen the moral obligation of the public
employer to the employee, because all parties enter the employment exchange with notice as to the law. The
pension system is responsible for the administration of the plan. Most long-term liabilities have set repayment
schedules or, in the case of compensated absences (i.e. sick and vacation leave), are satisfied through paid
time-off or termination payments. There is no repayment schedule for the net pension liability. As explained
above, changes in pension benefits, contribution rates, and return on investments affect the balance of the
net pension liability, but are outside the control of the local government. In the event that contributions,
investment returns, and other changes are insufficient to keep up with required pension payments, State
statute does not assign/identify the responsible party for the unfunded portion. Due to the unique nature of
how the net pension liability is satisfied, this liability is separately identified within the long-term liability section
of the statement of net position. In accordance with GASB 68, the Authority’s statements prepared on an
accrual basis of accounting include an annual pension expense for their proportionate share of each plan’s
change in net pension liability not accounted for as deferred inflows/outflows.

As a result of implementing GASB 68, the Authority is reporting a net pension liability and deferred
inflows/outflows of resources related to pension on the accrual basis of accounting. This implementation also
had the effect of restating net position at December 31, 2014, from $365,519,077 to $328,197,995.

Most of the Authority’s Net Position reflects investment in capital assets such as buses, maintenance
equipment, and operating facilities. The Authority uses these capital assets to provide public transportation
services for Franklin County and portions of the cities of Columbus, Dublin, Reynoldsburg, and Westerville
that are located in counties adjacent to Franklin County. The Authority’s investment in capital assets as of
December 31, 2015 amounts to $221.6 million. This investment in capital assets includes land, buildings and
improvements, revenue vehicles, transit centers, other equipment, and projects in progress (net of
accumulated depreciation). The total increase in COTA's investment in capital assets in 2015 was $13.2
million.

Major capital asset events during 2015 included the following:
e Purchase of (33) Heavy Duty CNG Transit Buses
e Renovation of North and South Terminals

Contributions to construction in progress including the following projects:
e Construction of Downtown Shelters
e Construction of Canal Winchester Park and Ride
e Bus Rapid Transit Project Development and Engineering
e Renovation of McKinley Avenue Bus Garage and Maintenance Facility Renovation-Phase IlI

Additional information on the Authority’s capital assets can be found in Note 6 in the Notes to the Financial
Statements located on pages 35.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Year Ended December 31, 2015

The Authority’s current assets at the end of 2015 are composed of cash and cash equivalents (49.5%),
investments (24.8%), receivables (23.1%), inventory (1.9%), and other assets (0.7%) consisting
predominately of prepaid expenses.

In 2015, the Authority’s total liabilities, other than net pension liability, decreased slightly due to timing of
accruals. The increase in net pension liability of $43.7 million was due to the Authority’'s increased
proportionate share of the unfunded pension obligation.

Expenses by Functional Category

The Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position are presented on the next page with
explanations and analysis. The Authority’s expenses, excluding leases and rentals and depreciation, can be
classified by functional category as defined by the Authority’s National Transit Database Report (NTDR) and
summarized in the following table:

EXPENSES BY FUNCTION (see exclusions listed above)

Description 2015 2014
Vehicle Operations $ 65,094,146 $ 63,224,635
Vehicle Maintenance 18,358,558 17,651,307
Facilities Maintenance 7,169,624 6,584,710
General & Administrative 21,141,046 19,690,525

Total $ 111,763,374 $ 107,151,177

In accordance with NTDR guidelines, the 2015 and 2014 expenses include additional costs of $17,952 and
$141,247, respectively. These costs are collected directly by the service provider from the Authority’s
customers of the Sedan Service for Disabled Passengers.

NTDR requires a portion of Purchased Transportation expense reflecting the cost of service provider vehicle

depreciation to be recorded as vehicle lease expense. For 2015 and 2014, $19,283 and $173,136
respectively, is excluded from expense by function reporting.
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Year Ended December 31, 2015

Condensed Summary of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position:

Description 2015 2014
Operating Revenues

Passenger Fare Revenues $ 19,137,087 $ 20,130,110

Special Services Revenue 878,702 780,737
Total Operating Revenues 20,015,789 20,910,847
Non-Operating Revenues

Sales Tax Revenues 125,163,004 118,662,543

Federal Assistance 267,143 21,787

State Assistance 619,459 745,356

Investment Income 274,082 384,324

Gain on disposal of capital assets 21,496 -

Non-transportation and Other Revenues 952,339 933,174
Total Non-Operating Revenues 127,297,523 120,747,184
Total Revenue before Capital Grants 147,313,312 141,658,031
Operating Expenses

Labor 46,536,591 43,215,656

Fringe Benefits 29,516,806 28,401,612

Materials and Supplies 15,062,371 15,908,436

Purchased Transportation 7,742,526 7,652,337

Services 8,189,640 7,269,244

Other Expenses 4,891,383 4,746,596

Depreciation Expense 24,469,195 22,093,964
Total Operating Expenses 136,408,512 129,287,845
Non-Operating Expenses

Loss on disposal of capital assets - 29,921

Regional transit subsidy 239,951 1,072,484
Total Non-Operating Expenses 239,951 1,102,405
Change before Capital Grants 10,664,849 11,267,781
Capital Grant Revenues:

Federal 26,389,805 22,926,484
Change in Net Position during the Year 37,054,654 34,194,265
Net Position, Beginning of Year 328,197,995 331,324,812

Restatement to implement GASB 68 - (37,321,082)

Net Position, End of Year

$ 365,252,649

$ 328,197,995
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The information necessary to restate the 2014 beginning balances and the 2014 pension expense amounts
for the effects of the initial implementation of GASB 68 is not available. Therefore, 2014 expenses still include
pension expense of $5,541,649 computed under GASB 27. GASB 27 required recognizing pension expense
equal to the contractually required contributions to the plan. Under GASB 68, pension expense represents
additional amounts earned, adjusted by deferred outflows and inflows of resources. The contractually required
contribution is no longer a component of pension expense. Under GASB 68, the 2015 statements report a
pension expense reduction of $4,901,929. Consequently, in order to compare 2015 total program expenses
to 2014, the following adjustments are needed:

Total 2015 program expenses under GASB 68 $ 136,408,512
Pension expense under GASB 68 (4,901,929)
2015 contractually required contributions 6,071,275

Adjusted 2015 program expenses 137,577,858

Total 2014 program expenses under GASB 27 129,287,845

Increase in program expenses not related to pension $ 8,290,013

Requests for Information

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Central Ohio Transit Authority’s financial
status and performance. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for
additional information should be addressed to:

Office of Chief Financial Officer
Central Ohio Transit Authority
William J. Lhota Building
33 N. High Street
Columbus, OH 43215
www.cota.com
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Revenues by Source

2015 Total Revenues
$173,703,117

Federal Capital Grants, 15.2%

Interest Income, 0.1%

Other, 0.7%

Passenger Fares, 11.5%

State Assistance, 0.4%

Sales Tax Revenue,
72.1%

= Sales Tax Revenue = State Assistance = Passenger Fares = Other = InterestIncome = Federal Capital Grants =

2014 Total Revenues
$ 164,584,515

Federal Capital Grants
13.9%

Interest Income
0.2%

Other -\
06%

Passenger Fares_— A
12.7%

State Assistance
0.5%

Sales Tax Revenue,
72.1%

= Sales Tax Revenue = State Assistance = Passenger Fares = Other = Interestincome = Federal Capital Grants
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

Operating Expense by Object Class
(Excluding Depreciation)

2015 Total Expenses
$111,939,317

Labor, 41.60% Services, 7.30% Other, 4.40%

W,

-

= Services = Other = Fringe Benefits = Supplies & Materials = Purchased Transportation = Labor

Fringe Benefits, 26.40%

Purchased

Transportation, 6.90% Supplies & Materials,

13.40%

2014 Total Expenses
$107,193,881

Services, 6.8%

Other, 4.4%

Labor, 40.3%
Fringe Benefits, 26.5%

<

= Services = Other =Fringe Benefits = Supplies & Materials = Purchased Transportation = Labor

Purchased

Transportation, 7.1% Supplies & Materials,

14.9%
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Year Ended December 31, 2015

Financial Operating Results
Revenues
For purposes of this presentation, the Authority groups its operating revenues into the following categories:

Passenger Fares are comprised of farebox revenues and special services revenues. When compared to
2014, the 2015 farebox revenue is down 4.9% driven by a 6% decrease in ridership.

Sales Tax Revenues are received from a permanent ¥4% sales tax levy approved by voters in November
1999 and a temporary ¥4% sales tax levy approved by voters in November 2006 applicable to the Authority’s
service area for a ten year period. In 2015 and 2014, the Authority saw a 5.4% and 6.7% increase in sales
tax revenue, respectively.

Federal Assistance is received from the Federal Transit Administration (FTA). In 2015 and 2014, COTA
received operating assistance through 85316 and 85339 to offset the cost of job access routes and BRT Real
Estate Acquisition and Management Plan.

Federal Capital Grants are received from the Federal Transit Administration (FTA). Eligible expenditures fall
into two general categories: capital expenditures and other expenditures which are limited to specific
programs. The Authority’s funding, as authorized in the Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21st Century
(MAP-21) comes primarily from 85307 which is the Urbanized Area Formula Program. The Authority utilizes
these funds primarily for capital programs and transit improvements and enhancements. The 85307 funds
appropriated for the Authority in 2015 increased 3.1% from 2014. In 2014, the Authority was awarded
additional 85307 funding through competitive discretionary grant programs used to fund capital infrastructure
projects.

State Assistance is received from the State of Ohio for reimbursement of state fuel taxes. COTA is required
to remit state taxes on diesel fuel, but is refunded $0.27 of the $0.28 per gallon paid.

Investment Income is earned on invested funds. Cash balances have continued to increase, but due to
continuing interest rate reductions the Authority has invested $60.1 million into negotiable certificates of
deposit which are generating interest income in 2015 and 2014.

Non-Transportation and Other Revenues consist of auxiliary transportation revenues and non-
transportation revenues. Non-transportation revenues include miscellaneous income items such as rent
income which has increased 2.1% and 4.4% in 2015 and 2014, respectively. In 2015, a gain on the sale of
capital assets was disclosed separately as non-operating revenue.

Expenses

Labor comprises almost half of the total Authority expenses and includes hourly wages paid to union-
represented employees (bus operators, mechanics and facility maintenance personnel), and salaries and
wages paid to administrative staff (clerical, supervisory and management personnel). Wages increased by
7.6% and 8.6% in 2015 and 2014, respectively due to merit increases and increased headcount in
administrative staff as well as operations that were required to provide continuing planned service hour
increases.

Fringe Benefits consist primarily of vacation, sick and holiday pay, required Authority contributions to the
Ohio Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS), and employee medical benefits. Required employer
contributions to OPERS were made at the rate of 14% of total gross taxable wages.

The 2015 fringe benefits increased by only 3.9%, not proportionate to the increase in labor expense due to
GASB 68 pension expense adjustment resulting in a reduction in current year benefit expense. In 2014,
fringe benefits increased by 8.7% consistent with increase in labor expenses as well as increasing costs
related to workers compensation and health insurance.

24



CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
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Expenses (continued)

Materials and Supplies include the Authority’s diesel fuel expense and parts used to maintain buses and
facilities. With 104 CNG (Clean Natural Gas) buses in the revenue fleet, the Authority’'s fuel expense
continues to decrease even with the Authority’s continuing increase of service hours. In 2015 and 2014, the
Authority’s fuel expense decreased 1.1% and 5.4%, respectively. In 2015 and 2014, materials and supplies
(excluding fuel) increased 11.9% and 5.9%, respectively. The majority of the material and supply costs for
the Authority are related to parts for the repair and maintenance of revenue buses and materials used to
maintain Authority owned facilities. With expansion buses added to the fleet each year as the annual service
hours increase, the cost of fleet maintenance continues to increase.

Purchased Transportation expenses are amounts paid to private local contractors for the Authority’s door-
to-door Project Mainstream service. Project Mainstream provides service-on-demand in minibuses equipped
with wheelchair lifts for persons with disabilities. Contracted costs are based on a fixed fee in addition to a
variable rate based on revenue hours provided. In 2015, purchase transportation expense increase of 1.1%
was in line with the 2.4% increase in service hours provided. In 2014, purchased transportation expense
increased 7.2%. The contract included a 1.2% increase in the fixed fee and a 5.3% increase in the variable
rate.

Services are provided by outside contractors to assist the Authority in completing professional, technical,
consulting and maintenance related projects. In 2015, services increased 12.6% due to consulting services
associated with the Next Gen project, marketing professional services as well as increasing software
maintenance costs. In 2014, services decreased 6.1% due to the completion of several on-going projects.

Other Expenses consist primarily of utilities, taxes, advertising, leases and rentals, claims and insurance and
other miscellaneous expenses. In 2015, other expenses increased 3% mostly driven by an increase in
advertising expense. In 2014, other expenses increased by 35% primarily driven by a significant increase in
utility expense driven by severe winter weather.

Depreciation Expense increased in 2015 by 10.7%. Completion of both the Spring Street Terminal (33 West
Spring Street) and COTA Transit Terminal (25 East Rich Street) as well as the purchase of thirty-eight CNG
revenue vehicles contributed to the increase in depreciation in 2015. Capital project activity such as the
purchase of $18.5 million of fixed route and paratransit revenue vehicles in 2014 contributed to a 10.2%
increase in depreciation expense.

Non-Operating Expense As a result of the 2010 US census, the City of Delaware has been classified as a
part of the Columbus Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA). This change was effective with Federal Fiscal Year
2013 which affected the funding status of the Delaware Area Transit Authority (DATA) moving them from a
rural transit funded through Ohio Department of Transportation (ODOT) to an urban transit funded directly
from the Federal Transit Administration via Section 5307 formula funds. The change has had a detrimental
impact on DATA's ability to utilize their federal funds from the urbanized area. DATA is unable to meet the
local funding requirements to utilize their portion of the federal funding. With the assistance of MORPC,
COTA and DATA recently entered into an agreement that specified the method of allocation that will be used
going forward to split the 5307 funds awarded to the Columbus MSA on an annual basis. The allocation that
DATA receives from this split is significantly less than the funding they received under the rural program
administered by ODOT. In recognition of the financial dilemma that DATA is in, ODOT and COTA have
entered into an agreement whereby DATA will receive local funding from COTA for use in public
transportation in Delaware County and the FTA, upon advisement by ODOT, will transfer an equal amount of
federal funds to COTA. In 2015, $239,951 was transferred to Delaware Area Transit Authority.
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Statement of Net Position
December 31, 2015

CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and Cash EQUIVAIENTS...........oiu e e e e e e e e et e e e e eenenaans $ 83,225,378
LY CS1S] £ =T 0] 44,994,598
Receivables:
S T[T = 33,690,982
Federal capital grants reCeIVADIE. ...........oiiiiiiiii e e e e e e 6,338,945
(013 1T PP 1,891,042
Inventory of materials and SUPPIIES ... .vuuei it e e e 3,461,412
(01 =T PRI 1,309,084
Board designated:
Cash and cash equivalents - capital grantS......... ..o 6,561,276
TOT AL CURRENT AS S E TS . ittt ittt et e e e et et e e e e et e et e e e e 181,472,717
NON-CURRENT ASSETS:
Board designated:
INVESTMENTS - SEIf INSUIANCE. .. ... it e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e eas 15,137,183

Capital assets:

Nondepreciable - [aNd... ... ..o e e 10,426,419
Nondepreciable - CONStIUCTION IN PrOgIESS. . .uuit it e e ee e e e e e e eas 30,465,317
Net depreciable Capital @SSETS. ... .. . e e e e s 180,693,882
(O To] ) =L I= T ST o T oSSR 221,585,618
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSE TS ..ot iitit ittt et et et e e e e e e e e e e eaaan 236,722,801
B O N I N S i 1 T 418,195,518
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES:
L= 1] 1] o 8,423,604
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accrued payroll and fringe DENETILS..........eiii e 6,012,568
ACCOUNTS PAYADIE. ... ettt e e et e e e e e e s et et e e e e e et a e e e e e ennnrres 6,930,939
Accrued payroll taxes 772,042
Estimated workers' compensation ClaimMS..........ou i e e e 141,680
Estimated Claims PAYADIE ..o 80,328
Other CUIMENt HaBIITIES. .. .c.iiii ittt e e e e e e e e et e e e e e e ssabaaeeeanees 1,371,983
Total CUITENE HADIITIEES . ...eee et e e e e e e e e et eeaaa e s eaaa e eeens 15,309,540
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accrued friNge DENETILS. ... .o e e e e e e e 899,985
Estimated workers' compensation ClaimsS..........c.oiie it e e e 332,151
Estimated claims payable 268,600
Net PENSION lIADIITY ..o e e e e s e e e e e e eraea s 43,734,920
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES. ... 45,235,656
TOTAL LIABILITIES. ..ottt 60,545,196
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES:
LT 110 o 821,277
NET POSITION:
INVESTMENE IN CAPITAI ASSELS ... .. ittt e e e e e e e e e e ees 221,585,618
[ T T =TS 1 o1 1= [N 143,667,031
TOTAL NET POSITION . .. ittt ettt e et e et et e e et e et et e e e e e et e e e eaeeaaes $ 365,252,649

See notes to financial statements.
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

Year ended December 31, 2015

OPERATING REVENUES:

Purchased tranSPOrtatioN. ............ooeoeeiiiiiiiiie e e e eeeeae s
SBIVICES. ..ttt
Ui, e e

Claims and insurance, net of SettlemMents.........cocooviiiiiiii e
AQVEITISING. ..o
Y ESYod=Y | F= T aT=To LU N

DEPRECIATION .« ottt et e st e e e e e e e e e e et e et e et e et e e e aenes
Total OPEratiNng EXPENSES. .....eviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie ettt a e e

NON-OPERATING REVENUES(EXPENSES):

SAIES TAX FEVENUES. ... ittt e et e e e e e e e e e e et e a e e e e e e e eesannnnaeeas
Federal Operating grantS... ... .. ooe o it e e e e e e e e e e

State operating grants, reimbursements and

Special fare aSSISTANCE ...t
TNV £ U= oL AT o] 1 4P
Regional transit SUDSIAY..........ie i e
Non-Transportation and other reVeNUE............ccooveeiiiieiiiiiiie e
Gain on disposal of capital aSSetS.......ccvi i

Change before capital grants..........ooviiit i e e e

CAPITAL GRANT REVENUES:

[T <o L= = |

CHANGE IN NET POSITION

NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR - restated see Note 3
NET POSITION, END OF YEAR. ...t e et e e eaeaee e

See notes to financial statements.

19,137,087
878,702

20,015,789

46,536,591
29,516,806
8,255,960
6,806,411
7,742,526
8,189,640
2,099,189
814,243
174,612
150,350
632,641
1,020,348

111,939,317

24,469,195

136,408,512

(116,392,723)

125,163,004
267,143

619,459
274,082
(239,951)
952,339

21,496

127,057,572

10,664,849

26,389,805

37,054,654
328,197,995

365,252,649
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended December 31, 2015

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Cash received frOM CUSTOMEIS. ..ot e e e e e e e aeeneene
Cash payments to suppliers for goods and services
Cash payments to employees for services.................
Cash payments for employee DENETILS. ... ..o e e et e een e e
Cash payments for casualty and ability..............coeoiiiii e e e .
Other receiptS.....coovvieveieiieieeeeesine

Net cash used iN OPErating ACHVITIES..........couiiiiiiie ettt ee s

CASH FLOWS FROM NON-CAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
SAIES TAXES TECERIVEU. ....eeeteeeeie ettt a et st b et e e st s et et e st e b et eb e s b et e st ebe st et eneene st e e enes
Federal operating asSISTANCE FECEIVEE. ..........oiviiiiiiieieie ettt
LOCAl @SSIStANCE PrOVIAEM. .. ...t ee ettt et et e e e e e et et et e e e
State operating and other aSSISTANCE rECEIVEM. ..........coeiiiiiieie et nen
Net cash provided by non-capital finanCiNg @CHVItIES.........ccveviirereecereeee e

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Federal capital grantS FECEIVEU. .........iiiiiiiiiieie ettt ettt sbe st e et sbeebesbeeneenteaneen s
Acquisition and construction of capital assets
Proceeds from sale of capital assets.............ccoeviieiinnn.
Net cash used in capital and related finANCING ACTHIVITIES........c.coiiiiiriiiieee s

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
LAY =53 (4= oL X 0
Interest received frOmM INVESTMENES..........ci e e e et e e s re e s saeesteesseeseeanteesan e e e e eenes
Net cash used iN INVESHING QCHIVITIES. ......co.iiiiiiiiieie ettt sttt nee

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR......c.ccciiiiiiininine i e e e
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR........ccciiiiiiiinn s

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING LOSS TO NET CASH
USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
OPEIALING LOSS ...ttt et et ettt et et et e e et e e e
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash used in operating activities:
DBPIECIALION. ..« et ettt et ettt e et et e e e e
Other reCeipts........cccvveienicceinceinees
Change in assets and liabilities:
Increase i Other reCEIVADIES ... ...... i e
Decrease in materials and supplies INVENOTY..........ooit it
INCrEASE IN OtNET ASSEIS ... ..ttt ittt e et et e e e e iae s
Increase in deferred OULFIOWS ... ..o e
Increase in accounts payable, accrued compensation, self-insurance liabilities and other.............
Increase in net pension Iability....... ...
Increase indeferred INFIOWS....... ... e
Net cash used in Operating @CHVILIES ... ... ...ttt et e et et e e eeanenes

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NONCASH ACTIVITY
Property purchases in accounts payable

See notes to financial statements.

$

20,015,789
(34,329,013)
(53,340,544)
(24,031,994)
(273,344)
747,773

(91,211,333)

125,439,291
286,378

(239,951)
619,459

126,105,177

24,836,000
(39,451,855)
25,200

(14,590,655)

(15,184,179)
274,082

(14,910,097)

5,393,092
84,393,562

$

89,786,654

$

(116,392,723)

24,469,195
952,339

(204,566)
43,207

(123,432)

(2,881,955)
1,233,141
872,189
821,277

$

(91,211,328)

$

3,866,079
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2015

(1) Organization and Reporting Entity

Organization

The Central Ohio Transit Authority (COTA or the Authority) is an independent, special purpose subdivision
of the State of Ohio. The Authority was created on February 17, 1971, pursuant to Sections 306.30 through
306.53 of the Ohio Revised Code for the purpose of providing public transportation in Central Ohio,
primarily Franklin County and surrounding areas. The Authority commenced operations on January 1,
1974. As a political subdivision, the Authority is distinct from, and is not an agency of, the State of Ohio
or any other local government unit.

Under Ohio law, the Authority is authorized to levy a sales and use tax for transit purposes, including both
capital improvement and operating expenses, in 0.25% increments up to a maximum rate of 1.5% if
approved by a majority of the electors residing within the territorial boundaries of the Authority. Such a
sales and use tax is in addition to the sales and use taxes levied by the State of Ohio and Franklin County.
On November 5, 1999, the voters of Franklin County approved a permanent 0.25% sales and use tax. On
November 2, 2006, the voters of Franklin County and surrounding counties within the COTA district
approved a temporary 10 year additional 0.25% sales and use tax.

The Authority also has the power, under Section 306.40 of the Ohio Revised Code, to levy and collect
both voted (after approval at an election) and unvoted ad valorem taxes on all the taxable property within
the territorial boundaries of the Authority, in order to pay debt service on its bonds and notes issued in
anticipation thereof. Ad valorem taxes were not levied during fiscal year 2015.

The Authority is governed by a 13-member Board of Trustees; seven (7) members are appointed by the
Mayor of Columbus; two (2) members are appointed by the Franklin County Commissioners; and four (4)
members are appointed on a rotating basis by the cities of Bexley, Dublin, Gahanna, Grandview Heights,
Grove City, Hilliard, Reynoldsburg, Upper Arlington, Westerville, Whitehall, and Worthington.

The Authority is not subject to federal or state income taxes.

Reporting Entity

The accompanying financial statements comply with the provisions of accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America in that these financial statements include all of the organization’s
activities, functions and component units for which the Authority is financially accountable. Financial
accountability is defined as the appointment of a voting majority of the component unit’s board and either
(1) the reporting entity’s ability to impose its will over the component unit, or (2) the possibility that the
component unit will provide a financial benefit to or impose a financial burden on the reporting entity.
COTA does not have financial accountability over any entities.

The City of Columbus (the City) is a related organization to COTA as the Mayor of the City, with the
approval of City Council, appoints a voting majority of COTA’s Board. However, the financial statements
of COTA are not included within the City’s “Reporting Entity” as the City cannot impose its will and there
is no financial benefit or financial burden relationship between the City and COTA.
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(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Accounting

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting, whereby
revenues and expenses are recognized in the period earned or incurred. All transactions are accounted
for in a single enterprise fund.

The financial statements of the Authority have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP) applied to local governmental units. The Governmental Accounting
Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting
and financial principles.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the Authority considers all highly liquid investments with a
maturity of three months or less when purchased and deposits in the State Treasurer's Asset Reserve
investment pool (STAR Ohio) to be cash equivalents.

Grant and Assistance

The federal government, through the Federal Transit Administration (FTA), and the Ohio Department of
Transportation, (ODOT) provides financial assistance and makes grants directly to the Authority for
operations and the acquisition of property and equipment.

Investments

Investments are carried at fair value based on quoted market prices. Any unrealized gains or losses are
recognized as adjustments to investment income. The Authority’s policy is to hold investment securities
to their scheduled maturities.

Inventory of Materials and Supplies

Inventory items are stated at cost using the weighted average method. Inventory generally consists of
maintenance parts and supplies for transportation equipment. Fuel and inventory items are expensed
when consumed.

Board Designated Assets
These assets are designated for the payment of public liability claims under the Authority’s self-insurance
program and for future capital expenditures.

Designated for Capital Grant Expenditures
These assets are board-designated under the Authority’s capital grants. The Authority includes amounts
relating to its local share requirements for active capital grants.

Net Position — Equity is displayed in two components as follows:

Investment in capital assets — This consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, less the
outstanding balances of any bonds, notes, or other borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition,
construction, or improvements of those assets.

Unrestricted — This consists of net position that does not meet the definition of “investment in capital
assets”.

Classifications of Revenues

The Authority has classified its revenue as operating, non-operating or capital grant. Operating revenue
includes activities that have the characteristics of exchange transactions including passenger fares and
advertising. Non-operating revenue includes activities that have the characteristics of non-exchange
transactions, such as sales tax proceeds and most federal, state, or other reimbursement or donation for
the acquisition of property and equipment.
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(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Recognition of Revenue and Receivables

The federal government, through the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) and the Ohio Department of
Transportation (ODOT), provides financial assistance and makes grants directly to the Authority for
operations and acquisition of property and equipment. Operating grants and special fare assistance
awards made on the basis of entitlement periods are recorded as grant receivables and revenues over the
entitlement periods. Capital grants for the acquisition of property and equipment (reimbursement type
grants) are recorded as grant receivables and credited to non-operating revenues in the period operating
expenses are incurred. Capital grants received in advance of project costs being incurred are deferred.

When assets acquired with capital grant funds are disposed of before their useful life, the Authority is
required to notify the granting federal agency if the net book value of the asset exceeds $5,000 at the time
of disposal. A proportional amount of the proceeds or fair market value, if any, of such property and
equipment, may be used to acquire like-kind replacement assets; and if not replaced, remitted to the
granting federal agency.

Property and Depreciation

Property and equipment are stated at historical cost and include expenses that substantially increase the
useful lives of existing assets. Routine maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. An asset is
capitalized if its value exceeds $5,000 and it has an economic life of greater than one year. The
capitalization cost of a physical asset is defined to be the full cost of placing the asset into productive
service.

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the respective
assets, as follows:

Description Years
Land and leasehold improvements 5-20
Buildings and improvements 20-40
Revenue vehicles 4-12
Transit shelters 5-8
Other equipment 2-10

Assets acquired with capital grants are included in property and equipment and depreciation on those
assets is included in the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position.

Estimated Claims Payable

The Authority has a self-insurance program for public liability, personal injury, property damage and
workers’ compensation (see Note 9). Claims are accrued in the year the expenses are incurred, based
upon estimates of the claim liabilities made by management and the legal counsel of the Authority. Also
provided for are estimates of claims incurred during the year but not yet reported. These estimates are
based on past experience and current outstanding claims.
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(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Compensated Absences

The Authority accrues vacation and sick pay benefits as earned by its employees. In the event of
termination, an employee is reimbursed for accumulated vacation and sick leave at various rates. Non-
current accrued fringe benefits are estimated based on the average vacation and sick leave expense from
the previous five years.

Current Non-current
Compensated Absences Liability December 31, 2013 $ 3,344,703  $ 781,942
Vacation & Sick Liability Earned 4,007,012 85,227
Vacation & Sick Liability Paid (3,900,131) -
Compensated Absences Liability December 31, 2014 $ 3,451,584 $ 867,169
Vacation & Sick Liability Earned 4,638,395 32,816
Vacation & Sick Liability Paid (4,419,812) -
Compensated Absences Liability December 31, 2015 $ 3,670,167 $ 899,985

Payment of vacation and sick leave is dependent on many factors; therefore, timing of future payments is
not readily determinable. However, management believes that sufficient resources will be made available
for the payment of vacation and sick leave when such payments become due.

Passenger Fares
Passenger fares are recorded as revenue at the time services are performed.

Budgetary Accounting and Control

The Authority’s annual budget is prepared on the accrual basis of accounting as permitted by law. The
Authority maintains budgetary control by not allowing total expenditures to exceed total appropriations
without approval of the Board of Trustees.

Use of Estimates

The accounting and reporting policies of COTA conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (GAAP). The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
deferred outflows of resources and liabilities and deferred inflows of resources and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

Non-exchange Transactions

Non-exchange transactions, in which the Authority receives value without directly giving equal value in
return, include sales and use tax revenue and grants. On an accrual basis, revenue from sales and use
taxes is recognized in the period when the underlying exchange transaction occurs. Therefore, taxes on
items sold in 2015 will be recognized as revenue in 2015. Revenue from grants is recognized in the fiscal
year in which all eligibility requirements have been satisfied. Eligibility requirements include timing
requirements, which specify the year when the resources are required to be used or the fiscal year when
use is first permitted, and expenditure requirements, in which the resources are provided to the Authority
on a reimbursement basis.
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Deferred inflows of resources

In addition to liabilities, the statements of financial position report a separate section for deferred inflows
of resources. Deferred inflows of resources represent an acquisition of net position that applies to a future
period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. For the
Authority, deferred inflows of resources from pension are reported on the Statement of net position (see
Note 10).

Deferred outflows of resources

In addition to assets, the statement of net position reports a separate section for deferred outflows of
resources. This separate financial statement element represents a consumption of net position that
applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense) until then.
For the Authority, deferred outflows of resources from pension are reported on the Statement of net
position (see Note 10).

Pensions

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows
of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the
pension plans and additions to/deductions from their fiduciary net position have been determined on the
same basis as they are reported by the pension systems. For this purpose, benefit payments (including
refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit
terms. The pension systems report investments at fair value.

Change in Accounting Principle and Prior Period Adjustment

For year ended December, 2015, the Authority implemented the Governmental Accounting Standards
Board (GASB) Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions, and GASB Statement
No. 71, Pension Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent to the Measurement Date — an amendment
of GASB Statement No. 68. GASB 68 establishes standards for measuring and recognizing pension
liabilities, deferred outflows of resources, deferred inflows of resources and expenses. The
implementation of this pronouncement had the following effect on net position:

Net Position at December 31, 2014 $ 365,519,077
Adjustments:
Net pension liability (OPERS tradition/combined plan) (42,862,731)
Deferred outflow - payments subsequent to measurement date 5,541,649
Restated Net Position at December 31, 2014 $ 328,197,995

Other than employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date, the Authority made no
restatement for deferred inflows/outflows of resources as the information needed to generate these
restatements was not available.
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(4) Cash and Investments

The investment and deposit of Authority monies are governed by the provisions of the Ohio Revised Code.
In accordance with these statutes, only financial institutions located in Ohio are eligible to hold public
deposits. The statutes also permit the Authority to invest its monies in certificates of deposit, savings
accounts, money market accounts, the State Treasurer's Asset Reserve investment pool (STAR Ohio),
and obligations of the United States government or certain agencies thereof. The Authority may also enter
into repurchase agreements with any eligible depository for a period not exceeding thirty days.

STAR Ohio is an investment pool managed by the State Treasurer's Office, which allows governments
within the State to pool their funds for investment purposes. STAR Ohio is not registered with the
Securities Exchange Commission as an investment company, but does operate in a manner similar to
Rule 2a7 of the Investment Company Act of 1940. Investments in STAR Ohio are valued at STAR Ohio’s
share price, which is the price the investment could be sold for on December 31, 2015.

Public depositories must give security for all public funds on deposit. These institutions may either
specifically collateralize individual accounts in addition to amounts insured by the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation (FDIC), or may pledge a pool of government securities with a market value equal
to 105% of the total value of public monies on deposit at the institution. Repurchase agreements must be
secured by the specific government securities upon which the repurchase agreements are based. These
securities must be obligations of or guaranteed by the United States and mature or be redeemable within
five years of the date of the related repurchase agreement. State law does not require security for public
deposits and investments to be maintained in the Authority’s name.

Deposits with Financial Institutions

Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of a bank failure, the Authority’s deposits may not be
returned. Public depositories must give security for all public funds on deposit. All deposits are
collateralized with eligible securities in amounts equal to at least 105% of the carrying value of the deposit.
Such collateral, as permitted by Chapter 135 of the Ohio Revised Code, is held in financial institution
collateral pools at Federal Reserve Banks, or at member banks of the Federal Reserve System, in the
name of the respective depository bank and pledged as a pool of collateral against all of the public deposits
it holds or as specific collateral held at the Federal Reserve Bank in the name of the Authority.

At December 31, 2015, the carrying amount of the Authority’s deposits with financial institutions was
$16,777,064 and the bank balance was $18,850,911. The difference results from outstanding checks and
deposits in transit. Based on criteria as described in GASB Statement No. 40, “Deposit and Investment
Risk Disclosure”, as of December 31, 2015, $250,000 was covered by Federal Deposit Insurance. The
$18,600,911 exposed to custodial risk was collateralized by a pool of securities maintained by the
Authority’s financial institutions but not in the Authority’s name. In addition, the Authority had $7,783 of
cash on hand.

Other Deposits

As of December 31, 2015, the Authority held equity of $73,001,807 in the STAR Ohio investment pool. As
of June 2015, Star Ohio has maintained Standard and Poors rating of AAAm. This investment has not
been categorized based on a custodial risk because it is not a security. The relationship between the
Authority and the investment asset is a direct contractual relationship and the investments evidence
ownership or creditorship.
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Investments
The Authority’s investments consist solely of negotiable certificates of deposits (CDs). These CDs are
held in the Authority’'s name by Trustees and are fully covered by FDIC.

Carrying Investment Maturities
Value > 1 year 2to5yrs
Negotiable CDs  $60,131,781  $35,137,183  $ 24,994,598

(5) Commitments

The Authority has several active projects as of December 31, 2015. The projects include the continuing
renovation of the McKinley Avenue Maintenance Garage, as well as a contractual obligation to purchase
heavy duty revenue vehicles. At year-end, the Authority’s commitments with contractors are as follows:

Remaining
Project Spent-to-Date  Commitment
McKinley Avenue Renovation $ 22,293,325 $ 4,320,190
Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) 2,830,463 1,664,294
TOTAL $ 25,123,788 $ 5,984,484

(6) Capital Assets

Capital asset activities for the year ended December 31, 2015 are as follows:

January 1, December 31,
2015 Additions Disposals Transfers 2015

Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated:

Land $ 9943599 $ 482,820 $ - % - $ 10,426,419

CIP 22,326,120 18,232,578 - (10,093,381) 30,465,317
Total 32,269,719 18,715,398 - (10,093,381) 40,891,736
Capital Assets Being Depreciated:

Land and leasehold improvements 4,954,139 11,896 (182,381) 823,430 5,607,084

Building and improvements 123,131,122 7,340  (1,349,712) 5,791,958 127,580,708

Revenue vehicles 128,853,965 18,456,948  (5,771,996) - 141,538,917

Transit shelter 1,937,507 12,570 - 1,254,540 3,204,617

Other equipment 37,705,037 489,001 - 2,223,453 40,417,491
Total 296,581,770 18,977,755  (7,304,089) 10,093,381 318,348,817
Less Accumulated Depreciation:

Land and leasehold improvements (2,347,983) (323,698) 182,381 - (2,489,300)

Building and improvements (46,404,866)  (6,754,872) 1,346,007 - (51,813,731)

Revenue vehicles (51,227,104) (11,916,519) 5,771,996 - (57,371,627)

Transit shelter (1,336,543) (471,074) - - (1,807,617)

Other equipment (19,169,628) (5,003,032) - - (24,172,660)
Total (120,486,124) (24,469,195) 7,300,384 - (137,654,935)
Total Capital Assets Being
Depreciated, Net 176,095,646 (5,491,440) (3,705) 10,093,381 180,693,882

Total Capital Assets, Net

$208,365,365 $13,223,958 $

(3,705) $ -

$221,585,618
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Leases

COTA leases certain property and equipment under operating leases. Rental expense for all operating
leases was $174,612 in 2015. Future minimum payments, by year, and in the aggregate, under these
leases with initial or remaining terms of one year or more, consisted of the following at December 31, 2015:

Commitments
under Operating
Leases
2016 5,474
2017 5,693
Total Minimum Lease Payments $ 11,167

Grants, Reimbursements and Special Fare Assistance

Grants, reimbursements and special fare assistance included in the Statement of Revenues, Expenses
and Changes in Net Position for the year ended December 31, 2015 consist of the following:

Federal:
FTA Capital Assistance $ 26,389,805
FTA Operating Assistance 267,143
Total $ 26,656,948
State:

ODOT Fuel Tax Reimbursement  $ 619,459

Risk Management

COTA is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, theft or destruction of assets, injuries to
employees and natural disasters. The Authority purchases commercial insurance for employee bonding,
flood, fire, property, crime, travel and general liability. There have been no reductions in coverage nor
have there been any settlements exceeding insurance coverage for the past three years.

COTA is self-insured for all public liability, personal injury and property damage claims. The estimated
liability for such claims of $348,928 at December 31, 2015 are included in estimated claims payable in the
accompanying statement of net position. At December 31, 2015 $15,137,183 was designated by the
Board of Trustees to fund the self-insurance program. Such funds are included in board designated assets
in the accompanying statement of net position.

Prior to June 30, 1998, COTA was insured through the State of Ohio Bureau of Workers’ Compensation
(BWC) for injuries to its employees. On July 1, 1998, the Authority entered into an agreement with the
BWC to become self-insured for claims pertaining to work-related injuries to Authority employees occurring
on or after that date. The BWC agreed to continue to administer and pay all compensation claims arising
on or before June 30, 1998. The estimated remaining liability for all such claims occurring since July 1,
1998, is $473,831 at December 31, 2015 and is included as a liability in the accompanying statement of
net position.
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Risk Management (continued)

The general claims liability was calculated by establishing reserves on a case-by-case basis after analysis
by in-house counsel and outside attorneys. The workers’ compensation liability was determined by
analyzing claim lag information provided by COTA'’s third party administrators. A summary of changes in
self-insurance claims liability for the year ended December 31, 2015 follows:

General Workers'

Liability Compensation
Claims liability at December 31, 2014 275,402 476,493
Incurred claims, net of favorable settlements 346,870 726,644
Claims paid (273,344) (729,306)
Claims liability at December 31, 2015 $ 348,928 % 473,831

There were no changes to the above policies during the current fiscal year. Claims experience over the
past three years indicates that there were no instances of losses exceeding reserves. The amount of
general liability and workers’ compensation reserve expected to be paid within one year is $80,328 and
$141,680, respectively.

Pension Plan

Net Pension Liability

The net pension liability reported on the statement of net position represents a liability to employees for
pensions. Pensions are a component of exchange transactions—between an employer and its
employees—of salaries and benefits for employee services. Pensions are provided to an employee—on
a deferred-payment basis—as part of the total compensation package offered by an employer for
employee services each financial period. The obligation to sacrifice resources for pensions is a present
obligation because it was created as a result of employment exchanges that already have occurred.

The net pension liability represents the Authority’s proportionate share of each pension plan’s collective
actuarial present value of projected benefit payments attributable to past periods of service, net of each
pension plan’s fiduciary net position. The net pension liability calculation is dependent on critical long-
term variables, including estimated average life expectancies, earnings on investments, cost of living
adjustments and others. While these estimates use the best information available, unknowable future
events require adjusting this estimate annually. Ohio Revised Code limits the Authority’s obligation for
this liability to annually required payments. The Authority cannot control benefit terms or the manner in
which pensions are financed; however, the Authority does receive the benefit of employees’ services in
exchange for compensation including pension.

GASB 68 assumes the liability is solely the obligation of the employer, because (1) they benefit from
employee services; and (2) State statute requires all funding to come from these employers.

All contributions to date have come solely from these employers (which also includes costs paid in the
form of withholdings from employees). State statute requires the pension plans to amortize unfunded
liabilities within 30 years. If the amortization period exceeds 30 years, each pension plan’s board must
propose corrective action to the State legislature. Any resulting legislative change to benefits or funding
could significantly affect the net pension liability. Resulting adjustments to the net pension liability would
be effective when the changes are legally enforceable.

The proportionate share of each plan’s unfunded benefits is presented as a long-term net pension liability

on the accrual basis of accounting. Any liability for contractually-required contributions outstanding at the
end of the year is included in accrued payroll and fringe benefits.
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Plan Description — Ohio Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS)

OPERS is a cost-sharing, multiple-employer public employee retirement system that provides retirement
and disability benefits to members and death and survivor benefits to beneficiaries. OPERS issues a
stand-alone, financial report that includes financial statements, required supplementary information and
detailed information about OPERS’ fiduciary net position. Interested parties may obtain a copy by
visiting http://www.opers.org, writing to OPERS, 277 East Town Street, Columbus, OH 43215-4642, or
by calling 614-222-5601 or 1-800-222-7377.

Ohio Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS) administers three separate pension plans as
described below:

1. The Traditional Pension Plan — a cost sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan.

2. The Member-Directed Plan — a defined contribution plan in which the member invests both member
and employer contributions (employer contributions vest over five years at 20% per year). Under the
Member-Directed Plan, members accumulate retirement assets equal to the value of member and
(vested) employer contributions plus any investment earnings.

3. The Combined Plan — a cost sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan. Under the
Combined Plan, OPERS invests employer contributions to provide a formula retirement benefit similar
in nature to, but less than, the Traditional Pension Plan benefit. Member contributions, the
investment of which is self-directed by the members, accumulate retirement assets in a manner
similar to the Member-Directed Plan.

Pension Benefits

All benefits of the System, and any benefit increases, are established by the legislature pursuant to Ohio
Revised Code Chapter 145. The Board, pursuant to ORC Chapter 145, has elected to maintain funds to
provide health care coverage to eligible Traditional Pension and Combined plan retirees and survivors of
members. Health care coverage does not vest and is not required under ORC Chapter 145. As a result,
coverage may be reduced or eliminated at the discretion of the Board.

Age-and-Service Defined Benefits — Benefits in the Traditional Pension Plan are calculated on the basis
of age, final average salary (FAS), and service credit. Members are eligible to retire at age 60 with five
years of qualifying service credit, or age 55 with 25 years of service, or 30 years of service regardless of
age. Age and service requirements for retirement will increase effective August 1, 2015, and will
continue to increase periodically until they reach age 60 with 35 years of service or age 65 with five
years of service on August 1, 2026. Members who retire before meeting the age and years of service
credit requirement for unreduced benefit receive a percentage reduction in the benefit amount. The
base amount of a member’s pension benefit is locked in upon receipt of the initial benefit payment for
calculation of annual cost-of-living adjustment.

Benefits in the Combined Plan consist of both an age-and-service formula benefit (defined benefit) and a
defined contribution element. The defined benefit element is calculated on the basis of age, FAS, and
years of service. Eligibility regarding age and years of service in the Combined Plan is the same as the
Traditional Pension Plan. The defined contribution portion of the benefit is based on accumulated
member contributions plus or minus any investment gains or losses on those contributions.
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Defined Contribution Benefits — Member-Directed Plan and Combined Plan members who have met the
retirement eligibility requirements may apply for retirement benefits. The amount available for defined
contribution benefits in the Combined Plan consists of the member’s contributions plus or minus the
investment gains or losses resulting from the member’s investment selections. Combined Plan members
wishing to receive benefits must meet the requirements for both the defined benefit and defined
contribution plans. Member-Directed participants must have attained the age of 55, have money on
deposit in the defined contribution plan and have terminated public service to apply for retirement benefits.
The amount available for defined contribution benefits in the Member-Directed Plan consists of the
members’ contributions, vested employer contributions and investment gains or losses resulting from the
members’ investment selections.

Disability Benefits — OPERS administers two disability plans for participants in the Traditional Pension and
Combined plans. Members participating in the Member-Directed Plan are not eligible for disability benefits.

Survivor Benefits — Dependents of deceased members who participated in either the Traditional Pension
Plan or the Combined Plan may qualify for survivor benefits.

Other Benefits — Once a benefit recipient retiring under the Traditional Pension Plan as received benefits
for 12 months, an annual 3% cost-of-living adjustment is provided on the member’s base benefit. Members
retiring under the Combined Plan receive a 3% cost-of-living adjustment on the defined benefit portion of
their benefit. A death benefit of $500-$2,500, determined by the number of years of service credit of the
retiree, is paid to the beneficiary of a deceased retiree or disability benefit recipient under the Traditional
Pension Plan and Combined Plan. Death benefits are not available to beneficiaries of Member-Directed
Plan participants.

Contributions - The OPERS funding policy provides for periodic employee and employer contributions to
all three plans (Traditional Pension, Combined and Member-Directed) at rates established by the Board,
subject to limits set in statute. The rates established for member and employer contribution rates were
approved based upon the recommendations of the System’s external actuary. All contribution rates were
within the limits authorized by the Ohio Revised Code.

Member and employer contributions rates, as a percent of covered payroll, were the same for each
covered group across all three plans for fiscal year ended December 31, 2015. Within the Traditional
Pension Plan and Combined Plan, member and employer contributions (employer contributions only for
the Combined Plan) and an actuarially determined rate of return are adequate to accumulate sufficient
assets to pay defined benefits when due. Employee contributions within the Combined Plan are not used
to fund the defined benefit retirement allowance. Employer contribution rates as a level percent of payroll
dollars are determined using the entry age actuarial funding method. This formula determined the amount
of contributions necessary to fund: (1) the current service cost, representing the estimated amount
necessary to pay for defined benefits earned by the employees during the current service year; and (2)
the prior service cost for service cost for service earned prior to the current year and subsequent benefit
increases. These contributions represent the amount necessary to fund accrued liabilities for retirement
allowances and survivor benefits over a period of time.
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Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources for
Pensions

The net pension liability was measured as of December 31, 2014, and the total pension liability used to
calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The Authority's
proportion of the net pension liability was based on the Authority's share of contributions to the pension
plan relative to the projected contributions of all participating entities. The following is information related
to the proportionate share and pension expense:

Traditional Combined Total
Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability (Asset) $ 43,898,970 $ (164,050) $ 43,734,920
Proportion of the Net Pension Liability 0.363971% 0.426078%
Pension Expense $ 4,792,915 $ 109,014 $ 4,901,929

At December 31, 2015, the Authority reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to pensions from the following sources:

Traditional Combined Total

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Net difference between projected and actual earnings
on pension plan investment
Authority contributions subsequent to the measurement date

$ 2342316 $ 10,013 $ 2,352,329
5,866,516 204,759 6,071,275

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources $ 8,208,832 $ 214,772 $ 8,423,604

Traditional Combined Total
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Difference between expected and actual experience $ 771,218 $ 50,059 $ 821,277
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources $ 771,218 % 50,059 $ 821,277

$6,071,275 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pension resulting from Authority
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension
liability in the year ending December 31, 2016. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources
and deferred inflows of resources related to pension will be recognized as pension expense as follow:

Traditional Combined
Plan Net Plan Net
Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Year-Ending December 31, Resources Resources Total
2016 $ 229736 $ (3,450) $ 226,286
2017 229,736 (3,450) 226,286
2018 526,047 (3,450) 522,597
2019 585,579 (3,450) 582,129
2020 - (5,956) (5,956)
Thereafter - (20,290) (20,290)
Total $ 1,571,098 $ (40,046) $ 1,531,052
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2015

(10) Pension Plan (continued)
Actuarial Assumptions — OPERS

OPERS’ total pension liability was determined by their actuaries in accordance with GASB Statement No.
67, as part of their annual actuarial valuation. Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates
of the value of reported amounts (e.g., salaries, credited service) and assumptions about the probability
of occurrence of events far into the future (e.g., future employment, mortality, cost trends). Actuarially
determined amounts are subject to continual review and potential modifications, as actual results are
compared with past expectations and new estimates are made about the future.

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan as
understood by the employers and plan members) and include the types of benefits provided at the time of
each valuation.

Key methods and assumptions used in calculating the total pension liability in the latest actuarial valuation
are presented below:

Actuarial Information Traditional Pension Plan Combined Plan
Valuation Date December 31, 2014 December 31, 2014
Experience Study 5 year period ending December 31, 2010 5 year period ending December 31, 2010
Actuarial Cost Method Individual entry age Individual entry age
Actuarial Assumptions:
Investment rate of return 8%
Wage inflation 3.75% 3.75%
Projected salary increases 4.25% - 10.05% (includes wage inflation at 3.75%) 4.25% - 8.05% (includes wage inflation at 3.75%)
Cost-of-living adjustments 3.00% Simple 3.00% Simple

Mortality rates are the RP-2000 mortality table projected 20 years using Projection Scale AA. For males,
105% of the combined healthy male mortality rates were used. For females, 100% of the combined healthy
female mortality rates were used. The mortality rates used in evaluating disability allowances were based
on the RP-2000 mortality table with no projections. For males, 120% of the disabled female mortality rates
were used, set forward two years. For females, 100% of the disabled female mortality rates were used.
The allocation of investment assets within the Defined Benefit portfolio is approved by the Board as
outlined in the annual investment plan. Plan assets are managed on a total return basis with a long-term
objective of achieving and maintaining a fully funded status for the benefits provided through the defined
benefit pension plans. The following table displays the Board-approved asset allocation policy for 2014
and the long-term expected real rates of return:

Long-Term

Expected Real

Asset Class Target Allocation Rate of Return
Fixed income 23.00% 2.31%
Domestic equities 19.90% 5.84%
Real estate 10.00% 4.25%
Private equity 10.00% 9.25%
International equitities 19.10% 7.40%
Other investments 18.00% 4.59%

TOTAL 100.00%
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Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2015

(10) Pension Plan (continued)
Actuarial Assumptions — OPERS

The long term expected rate of return on defined benefit investment assets was determined using a
building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return are developed
for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return
by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage, adjusted
for inflation.

Discount Rate The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 8.0% for both the
Traditional Pension Plan and the Combined Plan. The projection of cash flows used to determine the
discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members and those of the contributing employers are
made at the statutorily required rates. Based on those assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net
position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan
members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments for both the
Traditional Pension Plan and the Combined Plan was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments
to determine the total pension liability.

Sensitivity of the Authority's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the
Discount Rate

Net pension liability is sensitive to changes in the discount rate, and to illustrate the potential impact the
following table presents the net pension liability calculated using the discount rate of 8.0 percent, as well
as what each plan’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one
percentage point lower (7.0 percent), or one percentage point higher (9.0 percent) than the current rate.

Proportionate Share of the Net 1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
Pension Liability (Asset) (7.0%) (8.0%) (9.0%)
Traditional pension plan $ 80,761,525 $ 43,898,970 $ 12,851,816
Combined plan $ 21,304  $ (164,050) $ (311,037)

OPERS’ Post-Employment Health Care plan was established under, and is administrated in accordance
with, Internal Revenue Code 401(h). Each year, the OPERS Board of Trustees determines the portion of
the employer contribution rate that will be set aside for funding of post- employment health care benefits.
The portion of employer contributions allocated to health care for members in the Traditional Pension Plan
and Combined Plan was 2.0% during calendar year 2014. Effective January 1, 2015, the portion of
employer contributions allocated to healthcare remained at 2.0% for both plans, as recommended by the
OPERS Actuary.

The OPERS Board of Trustees is also authorized to establish rules for the payment of a portion of the
health care coverage by the retiree or their surviving beneficiaries. Payment amounts vary depending on
the number of covered dependents and the coverage selected. Actual Authority contributions to OPERS
for the years ending December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013 were approximately $7,362,000, $6,724,000,
and $6,259,000 respectively, equal to the required contributions for each year. The Authority's
contributions actually made to fund post-employment benefits totaled $1,051,000 in 2015, $960,000 in
2014, and $477,000 in 2013. For 2015, 2014, and 2013, 100% of the required contributions have been
made.
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(11)

(12)

Contingent Liabilities

Litigation

It is the Authority’s policy to act as self-insurer for certain insurable risks consisting primarily of public
liability and property damage. At December 31, 2015, COTA has been named in various public liability
and property damage claims and suits, some of which seek significant damages. The ultimate outcome of
the claims and suits cannot be determined; however, it is the opinion of management that any resulting
liability to the Authority in excess of that provided for in the accompanying balance sheet will not have a
material adverse effect on the Authority’s financial position.

Federal and State Grants

Under the terms of the Authority’s various grants, periodic audits are required where certain costs could
be questioned as not being an eligible expenditure under the terms of the grants. At December 31, 2015,
there were no material questioned costs that had not been resolved with appropriate federal and state
agencies. Questioned costs could still be identified during audits to be conducted in the future. In the
opinion of COTA’s management, no material grant expenditures will be disallowed. FTA grant stipulations
also require the granter to retain assets acquired by FTA funds for the full estimated asset life (as
determined by the FTA). If this provision is not met, the granter must refund FTA’s un-depreciated basis
in assets disposed with a net book value greater than $5,000.

Energy Pricing Management Program

Pursuant to Ohio Revised Code sections 9.835 (A), (B), and section (C) the Central Ohio Transit Authority
has established an energy price risk management program to decrease the volatility of diesel fuel and
natural gas cost, and increase the likelihood that actual net energy costs will remain below the budgeted
cost, increase the certainty of future cost, attain a lower overall cost of fuel and natural gas in the long-
term, and manage year-over-year changes in energy costs. Within this program, COTA will acquire, hold,
and dispose of positions in exchange-traded futures contracts and other financial instruments including
but not limited to use of futures, options, options on future, or fixed price delivery contracts. In 2015,
heating oil #2 futures contracts as well as natural gas contracts were utilized. The COTA Board approval
limits contracts in-place to a maximum hedge ratio of up to 100% of forecast consumption, up to thirty-six
(36) months into the future. The initial value of each contract is zero. The price of diesel fuel purchased
is the published Columbus, Ohio OPIS price for the week plus or minus a differential agreed to through a
competitive bidding process. The differential to the published Columbus, Ohio OPIS price was $0.0339
per gallon at December 31, 2015. The price of natural gas purchased is the New York Mercantile
Exchange monthly closing index plus or minus a margin agreed to through a competitive bidding process.
The contracted margin is $0.0319/DTH through August 31, 2018. For the year ending December 31, 2015
a loss of $2,412,036 ($1.01 per gallon) was recognized as an increase in diesel fuel expense. For the
year ending December 31, 2015 there was no impact to the natural gas expense for the open natural gas
contracts. On December 31, 2015 the open diesel fuel contracts had $1,256,136 of unrealized loss. On
December 31, 2015, the open natural gas contracts had $24,135 of unrealized loss. The amount realized
will change based on market prices at the time all contract settlements are fixed. There is no debt
associated with these contracts.
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Schedule of the Authority's Proporationate Share

of the Net Pension Liability (Asset)
Last Two Years (1)

2014

2013

Ohio Public Employees Retirement System-Traditional Plan:
Authority's Proporation of the Net Pension Liability (Asset)

Authority's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability (Asset)

Authority's Covered-Employee Payroll

Authority's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability (Asset)
as a Percentage of its Covered-Employee Payroll

Plan Fiduciary net Pension as a Percentage of the Total
Pension Liability (Asset)

Ohio Public Employees Retirement System-Combined Plan:
Authority's Proporation of the Net Pension Liability (Asset)

Authority's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability (Asset)

Authority's Covered-Employee Payroll

Authority's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability (Asset)
as a Percentage of its Covered-Employee Payroll

Plan Fiduciary net Pension as a Percentage of the Total
Pension Liability (Asset)

0.363971%
43,898,970
44,622,933

98.38%

86.45%

0.426078%
(164,050)
1,557,475

10.53%

72.20%

Note: Information prior to 2013 is not available. The Authority will continue to present

information for years available until a full ten-year trend is presented.

Q) Amount presented as of the Authority's measurement date which is the prior fiscal year.

$
$

$
$

0.363971%
42,907,439
38,340,346

103.30%

86.36%

0.426078%
(44,708)
1,338,192

3.08%

73.00%
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Schedule of the Authority's Contributions
Last Three Years

2015 2014 2013
Ohio Public Employees Retirement System
Traditional Plan:
Contractually Required Contribution $ 5,866,516 $ 5,354,752 $ 4,984,245
Contributions in Relation to the
Contractually Required Contributions (5,866,516) (5,354,752) (4,984,245)
Contribution Deficiency (Excess) $ - $ - $ -
Authority Covered-Employee Payroll $ 48,887,633 $ 44,622,933 $ 38,340,346
Contributions as a Percentage of
Covered-Employee Payroll 12.00% 12.00% 13.00%
Ohio Public Employees Retirement System
Combined Plan:
Contractually Required Contribution $ 204,759 $ 186,897 $ 173,965
Contributions in Relation to the
Contractually Required Contributions (204,759) (186,897) (173,965)
Contribution Deficiency (Excess) $ - $ - $ -
Authority Covered-Employee Payroll $ 1,706,325 $ 1,557,475 $ 1,338,192
Contributions as a Percentage of
Covered-Employee Payroll 12.00% 12.00% 13.00%

Note: Information prior to 2013 is not available. The Authority will continue to present
information for years available until a full ten-year trend is presented.
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Supplemental Schedule of Revenues, Expenses and
Changes in Net Position - Budget vs. Actual (Accrual Basis)

Year ended December 31, 2015

Fringe benefits

Materials and supplies.

OPERATING REVENUES ..o
OPERATING EXPENSES OTHER THAN DEPRECIATION:

Purchased tranSportation.............ooeveererieereneseeee e

Services
Utilities.............

Miscellaneous

Claims and insurance, net of settlements..........ccccccveeveeieecie e,

Total OPerating EXPENSES......c.ueiiiieierierieeie sttt

OPERATING LOSS ... e
NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES):

SAIES TAX TEVENUES ...ttt
Federal 0perating grant..........co.ooeeeereieeeesieseee et
State operating grants, reimbursements and

special fare assistance

Investment inCOMe........cccoccvvevveceeecieennee.

Federal ...........

Change before capital grants..............o.ooiiiiii i

CAPITAL GRANT

REVENUE:

CHANGE IN NET POSITION ..ottt e e e e e
NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR - restated see NOte 3.........ccccvvvveeeeeennnnns
NET POSITION, END OF YEAR.... ...ttt e et e e

BUDGET

$ 20,323,795

ACTUAL

$ 20,015,789

VARIANCE

$  (308,006)

53,374,518 46,536,591 6,837,927
24,150,745 29,516,806 (5,366,061)
8,255,536 8,255,960 (424)
7,782,975 6,806,411 976,564
7,912,018 7,742,526 169,492
8,724,752 8,189,640 535,112
2,112,666 2,099,189 13,477
348,350 150,350 198,000
2,729,216 2,641,844 87,372
115,390,776 111,939,317 3,451,459
23,500,000 24,469,195 (969,195)
138,890,776 136,408,512 2,482,264
(118,566,981)  (116,392,723) 2,174,258
118,662,768 125,163,004 6,500,236
- 267,143 267,143

709,400 619,459 (89,941)
204,000 274,082 70,082
761,161 952,339 191,178
(1,239,951) (239,951) 1,000,000

- 21,496 21,496
119,097,378 127,057,572 7,960,194
530,397 10,664,849 10,134,452
32,211,879 26,389,805 (5,822,074)
32,211,879 26,389,805 (5,822,074)
32,742,276 37,054,654 4,312,378
328,197,995 328,197,995 -
$360,040271  $365252,649 $ 4,312,378
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STATISTICAL
SECTION

This part of COTA’'s comprehensive annual financial report contains detailed information
presented in accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement
No. 44, Economic Condition Reporting: The Statistical Section. These schedules provide
additional details to better understand the financial statements, notes and required
supplemental information.

Financial Trends and Revenue Capacity P47-55

These schedules indicate how the Authority’s performance and conditions have changed over a
ten year time frame. Also contained in these schedules in information to help the reader
understand the Authority’s most significant revenue sources.

Debt Capacity P56-58
These schedules indicate COTA specific debt service information as well as direct and
overlapping debt computations from Franklin County.

Economic and Demoqgraphic Information P59-61

These schedules contain economic and demographic indicators to help the reader
understand the environment within which the Authority’s financial activities take place.

Operating Information P62-66

These schedules contain data to help the reader understand how to the information in
the Authority’'s financial report relates to the services the Authority provides and the
activities it performs.
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Revenues and Operating Assistance -
Comparison to Industry Trend Data
Last Ten Fiscal Years

TRANSPORTATION INDUSTRY @

OPERATING AND OTHER REVENUE OPERATING ASSISTANCE

STATE & TOTAL ALL
YEAR PASSENGER OTHER TOTAL LOCAL FEDERAL TOTAL REVENUES
2006 33.2 15.3 48.5 43.8 7.7 515 100.0
2007 31.4 14.1 455 47.0 7.5 54.5 100.0
2008 31.2 12.9 441 48.9 7.0 55.9 100.0
2009 31.5 12.5 44.0 47.8 8.2 56.0 100.0
2010 32.1 11.9 44.0 46.6 9.4 56.0 100.0
2011 32.8 111 43.9 46.3 9.8 56.1 100.0
2012 32.5 111 43.6 47.5 8.9 56.4 100.0
2013 32.5 10.3 42.8 48.3 8.9 57.2 100.0
2014 * * * * * * *
2015 * * * * * * *

CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY ¢

OPERATING AND OTHER REVENUE OPERATING ASSISTANCE

STATE & TOTAL ALL

YEAR PASSENGER OTHER TOTAL LOCAL FEDERAL TOTAL REVENUES
(©) O

2006 16.7 8.4 25.1 61.2 13.7 74.9 100.0
2007 15.2 14.2 294 57.2 13.4 70.6 100.0
2008 11.4 12.3 23.7 76.3 0.0 76.3 100.0
2009 10.4 225 32.9 67.2 0.0 67.2 100.1
2010 11.4 21.6 33.0 67.0 0.1 67.1 100.0
2011 12.4 16.1 28.5 69.4 2.1 71.5 100.0
2012 13.3 154 28.7 71.0 0.3 71.3 100.0
2013 12.6 17.1 29.7 69.5 0.8 70.3 100.0
2014 12.7 14.7 27.4 72.6 0.0 72.6 100.0
2015 10.3 89.5 99.8 0.3 0.0 0.3 100.1

* Information not available

(1) Source: The American Public Transit Association, APTA Transit Fact Book

(2) Percentages are derived from the Authority's independently audited annual financial statements.

(3) Includes auxiliary transportation revenues, interest income, nontransportation, other revenues and capital grants
(4) Includes local sales tax revenues, and state operating grants, reimbursements, and special fare assistance
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

Farebox Revenues vs. Operating Expenses
Last Ten Fiscal Years

120.0

100.0
~ 80.0
2
S
T 60.0 A
£
® 400 -

20.0 +

0.0 +
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
Farebox revenues include passenger, special transit, and charter revenues;
operating expenses exclude depreciation
mFarebox Revenues mOperating Expenses
CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Farebox Recovery Ratio
Last Ten Fiscal Years

25.0%
20.0%
15.0% -+
10.0% -
5.0% -
0.0% - T T T T T T T T T

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Recovery ratio is calculated as farebox revenues (as defined above) divided by
operating expenses (as defined above)
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Operating Expenses - Comparison to Industry Trend Data
Last Ten Fiscal Years

TRANSPORTATION INDUSTRY ()

LABOR MATERIALS CLAIMS PURCHASED TOTAL

AND AND AND TRANS- OPERATING
YEAR ERINGES SERVICES SUPPLIES UTILITIES INSURANCE PORTATION OTHER EXPENSES
2006 66.1% 5.9% 11.3% 3.2% 2.5% 13.4% (2.4%) 100.0%
2007 65.8% 6.1% 11.6% 3.4% 2.4% 13.0% (2.3%) 100.0%
2008 63.9% 6.3% 12.8% 3.4% 2.2% 13.7% (2.3%) 100.0%
2009 64.8% 6.6% 11.3% 3.5% 2.3% 14.0% (2.5%) 100.0%
2010 65.2% 6.6% 10.7% 3.4% 2.6% 13.8% (2.3%) 100.0%
2011 65.0% 6.6% 11.4% 3.3% 2.6% 13.3% (2.2%) 100.0%
2012 64.0% 6.9% 11.7% 3.2% 2.2% 13.8% (1.9%) 100.0%
2013 60.7% 7.1% 11.2% 3.1% 2.4% 13.7% 1.8% 100.0%
2014 * * * * * * * *
2015 * * * * * * * *

CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY (2

LABOR MATERIALS CLAIMS PURCHASED TOTAL

AND AND AND TRANS- OPERATING
YEAR ERINGES SERVICES SUPPLIES UTILITIES INSURANCE PORTATION  OTHER EXPENSES @)
2006 68.0% 5.5% 13.6% 2.1% 1.7% 6.8% 2.3% 100.0%
2007 67.1% 5.9% 14.5% 2.2% 1.0% 7.2% 2.1% 100.0%
2008 62.6% 6.2% 18.1% 2.2% 0.6% 7.7% 2.6% 100.0%
2009 67.5% 7.0% 12.9% 2.1% 0.4% 7.4% 2.7% 100.0%
2010 67.7% 7.0% 14.0% 2.2% 0.0% 6.9% 2.2% 100.0%
2011 66.6% 7.0% 14.9% 2.1% 0.5% 7.0% 1.9% 100.0%
2012 66.9% 6.4% 15.7% 1.7% 0.2% 7.2% 1.9% 100.0%
2013 65.7% 7.7% 15.9% 1.8% -0.5% 7.1% 2.3% 100.0%
2014 66.8% 6.8% 14.8% 2.0% 0.2% 7.1% 2.3% 100.0%
2015 67.9% 7.3% 13.5% 1.9% 0.1% 6.9% 2.4% 100.0%

* Information not available
(1) Source: The American Public Transit Association, APTA Transit Fact Book

(2) Percentages are derived from the Authority's independently audited annual financial statements.

(3) Total operating expenses exclude depreciation
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
LEGAL DEBT MARGIN
DECEMBER 31, 2015
(IN THOUSANDS)

CALCULATION OF LEGAL OVERALL DEBT MARGIN:

Total assessed property valuation of Authority

(2015 tax year ValUation) (L) .....eeeeeeeeeiaiieeieeeeeeeesaeiiieeee e e e e s s e aebbeeeeeeeeessannnereeeeeeaeessannnnnees $ 27,907,630,030
Multiplied by: Legal overall debt limitation (%0) ......eevveeeeiiiiiiiiiiiee e 5.00%
Equals: Total legal voted and unvoted debt limitation ............cccccveeeeeeeiiiiiiie e, $ 1,395,381,502
Less: Nonexempt general obligation debt (voted and unvoted) (2) .......cccccevvvviiiiieeeeeennn, $ -

Equals: Legal overall debt margin (maximum amount permitted for new
voted and unvoted nonexempt general obligation debt issuances) ........ccccccccevvvivinnnnn, $  1,395,381,502

CALCULATION OF LEGAL UNVOTED DEBT MARGIN:

Total assessed property valuation of Authority

(2015 tax year ValUAtioN) (L) ..oveeeeieeeeeeeeeiee e e eetee e e e eerree e e s etree e e s et e e e s erbee e e s sbbe e e e s enraeeeeennes $ 27,907,630,030
Multiplied by: Legal unvoted debt limitation (%0) .......ceeeriiiiiiiiiiiiiee e 0.10%
Equals: Legal unvoted debt IMItation ............coooiiiiiiiee e $ 27,907,630

Less: Maximum aggregate amounts of principal and interest
payable in any one Calendar YEAr (2) ......ccoccuereeiiiiiee et e e st e e e seee e $ -

Equals: Legal unvoted debt margin (maximum annual debt service charges
permitted for new unvoted nonexempt general obligation debt issuances)................. $ 27,907,630

(1) Source: Franklin County Auditor's Office
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Ratio of General Bonded Debt to Assessed Value and
Net Bonded Debt per Capita
Last Ten Fiscal Years

RATIO OF
ASSESSED GENERAL BONDED DEBT TO BONDED DEBT
YEAR POPULATION VALUE BONDED DEBT ASSESSED VALUE PER CAPITA
@ @ ®
2006 1,095,662 $ 29,193,651,687 % - 0.00% $0.00
2007 1,153,932 $ 28,259,014,070 % - 0.00% $0.00
2008 1,160,308 $ 28,772,964,620 $ - 0.00% $0.00
2009 1,164,725 $ 28,943,091,370 % - 0.00% $0.00
2010 1,163,414 $ 28,868,029,740 % - 0.00% $0.00
2011 1,173,158 $ 27,147,358,600 $ - 0.00% $0.00
2012 1,168,018 $ 26,973,196,500 $ - 0.00% $0.00
2013 1,195,537 $ 27,018,525,940 % - 0.00% $0.00
2014 1,231,393 $ 27,221,010540 % - 0.00% $0.00
2015 1,251,722 $ 27,221,010,540 $ - 0.00% $0.00

(1) U. S. Department of Commerce - Bureau of Economic Analysis
(2) Source: Franklin County Auditor's Office

(3) The Authority's independently audited annual financial statements
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Computation of Direct and Overlapping General Obligation Debt
December 31, 2015

Franklin County Total Value
Net of all other adjustments

*Assessed Value for COTA=$%

* The above amounts are all less Tangible Personal

$26,642,424,460
$1,265,205,570

$27,907,630,030

Percentage
General Obligation  Applicable to  Amount Applicable
Political Subdivision Debt COTA to COTA
COTA - 100.0% -
Franklin County 269,561,959 100.0% 269,561,959
Cities wholly within COTA 604,617,894 100.0% 604,617,894
Cities with Overlapping:

City of Dublin 29,560,000 84.0% 24,830,400

City of Pickerington 13,945,000 0.4% 55,780
Villages wholly within COTA 3,144,100 100.0% 3,144,100
Villages with Overlapping:

Village of Canal Winchester 5,460,235 88.1% 4,810,467
Townships wholly within COTA 17,641,000 100.0% 17,641,000
Townships with Overlapping:

Washington Township 0 85.7% 0
School Districts wholly within COTA 755,743,222 100.0% 755,743,222
School Districts with Overlapping:

Canal Winchester Local S.D. 55,078,670 73.4% 40,427,744

Dublin City S.D. 143,147,223 78.4% 112,227,423

Hilliard City S.D. 116,911,423 100.0% 116,911,423

Licking Heights Local S.D. 49,163,875 52.2% 25,663,543

Olentangy Local S.D. 304,142,504 0.1% 304,143

Pickerington Local S.D. 108,248,709 1.5% 1,623,731

Plain Local S.D. 98,317,695 100.0% 98,317,695

South-Western City S.D. 180,959,989 99.8% 180,598,069

Teays Valley Local S.D. 31,640,000 0.1% 31,640

Westerville City S.D. 65,320,000 62.5% 40,825,000

Delaware County Joint Vocational S.D. - 0.0% 0

Eastland Joint Vocational S.D. 2,100,000 58.5% 1,228,500

Licking County Joint Vocational S.D. 21,150,000 6.7% 1,417,050
Special District with Overlapping:

Delaware County District Library - 0.0% -

New Albany/Plain Jnt Park District 5,529,476 100.0% 5,529,476
Total 2,305,510,259

Source: Ohio Municipal Advisory Council database

Notes: 1. Percentage applicable to COTA equals the Franklin County value of the political
subdivision divided by the total valuation. TY2014/CY2015 values are used.

2. General Obligation debt includes Limited and Unlimited issues except for City of Columubs (Limited only)
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

Demographic Statistics
Last Ten Fiscal Years

PER CAPITA MEDIAN K -12 SCHOOL UNEMPLOYMENT
YEAR POPULATION INCOME AGE_ ENROLLMENT RATE
® @ ®) ) ©®)
2006 1,095,662 $37,492 * 188,737 4.9%
2007 1,153,932 $38,556 34.5 189,072 4.7%
2008 1,160,308 $39,165 32.6 206,197 5.5%
2009 1,164,725 $38,020 33.1 216,820 10.9%
2010 1,163,414 $38,170 33.4 208,698 9.6%
2011 1,173,158 $39,646 34.9 197,082 8.1%
2012 1,168,018 $42,624 33.6 192,902 6.7%
2013 1,195,537 $43,506 33.6 196,580 7.2%
2014 1,231,393 $45,158 33.8 218,349 4.8%
2015 1,251,722 * * 220,090 4.1%

Note: All information presented is for Franklin County

* Information not available
Sources:

(1) U. S. Department of Commerce - Bureau of Economic Analysis

(2) U. S. Department of Commerce - Bureau of Economic Analysis

(3) U.S. Census Bureau

(4) Ohio Department of Education - Division of Information Management Services
(5) Ohio Department of Job and Family Services
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

Fare Rate Structure
December 31, 2015

CASH OR TICKET FARES:
EXPIESS .t
[ oTor= U= 0T B O 0 1Y) (0 1LY o P
Project MainStream ADA TrD(L) «eveuieeeeereeurinnaieeereeeerenneeeeeereennnnaaaeeeeeennn
Project Mainstream NON-ADA THP() «oooveviiiiieieieeeee e
B = 1 1) (=

DAY PASSES ().
Yo LU NN
HUMAN SEIVICE AGENCY (4) cevvevririieeeeeeeeiiiiieeeeeeeeeatans s e e e e eeeanen e e e eeeeeennnnnns

Children over 48" and under 12 years old, Senior Discount Card (),

Lo ) O - o ()
SeVEN-DAY PaSS ........cciiiiiiiiii

MONTHLY PASSES:
E X S ittt
LOCAI ..t
Project MaiNSIrEaM (1) «.vvvuuuuieeeeeeiiiiiiie e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e
Senior Discount Card (5), OF K&Y Card (6) «.....vuevrvneirineiinieaeiiieieiaenenen,

SPECIAL FARES:

Children over 48" and under 12 years old, Senior Discount Card (s),

(o] g S O T o ()

Children uUnder 48" tall ..........oivuniiiii e

(1) Door-to-door service on demand, in wheelchair lift-equipped paratransit mini-buses, for eligible

disabled riders holding an "ADA" card. ADA Trips are defined as trips originating 3/4 of a mile
or less from an existing fixed-route bus line that is in operation within the time of day and day
of the week. All other trips are considered a Non-ADA Trip.

(2) Good for unlimited travel on all local/crosstown routes from time of validation until midnight

©)
4)
®)
(6)
@)
®)

Additional $0.75 required for express service

Distributed by approved nonprofit service agencies for use by their clientele

Photo identification card, for riders aged 65 and over

Photo identification card, for eligible disabled riders

Photo identification card, for physically or mentally disabled riders for Project Mainstream service

Age 17 or younger, additional $0.75 required for express service

62

2.75
2.00
3.50
5.00
Free

4.50
4.00

2.25
25.00

85.00
62.00
105.00
31.00

1.00
Free
1.00
Free
62.00
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Miscellaneous Statistics

For the Year ended December 31, 2015

Date of creation of Authority by local county
and municipal QOVEIrNMENTS ............cvvieiiiiiiiieiieiiie e February 17, 1971

Date of acquisition of assets of Columbus

Transit Company (C.T.C.) oo June 29, 1973
Date of commencement of Authority operations ....................... January 1, 1974
Form of goOVerNMENt ........cooovviiii e Board of Trustees, with

fulltime President/CEO
NUMbBEr Of TFUSIEES ... covniiiii e, 12 (two vacancies)

County in which Authority operates ............cccoovvieeiiiiiiiiiiiiinnnnn. Franklin County and small portions
of adjacent Delaware, Fairfield,
Union, and Licking Counties, Ohio

Type Of taX SUPPOIT ....cevineeiie e, Service Area Sales Tax -
1/4 % permanent
1/4 % temporary

Size Of AULNOMILY ..o 562
MIlES Of FOULE ... 1053.2
NUMDET Of FOULES ..o 65
Number of bus Stop [0CatioNS ...........coevvviiiiiiiiiie e, 3,400
Number of bus stop passenger shelters ............ccooooevviiiiieennnnn, 360
Number of Park-and-Ride facilities ..............cccccoiiiiiiiinnen. 27
Parking capacity, all Park-and-Ride facilities ................c........... 2,357
Number of active fleet BUSES .............eiiiiiiiiiiii 336
Average bus vehicle age .........cooovviiiiiii i, 5
Average fixed-route system Speed ..........ccooevveeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinenen, 13.64
Average fixed-route system fuel economy ...........ccccoceveeeiinnnnnn, 4.39
Number of customer information calls received ....................... 1,416,336

Source: The Authority's annual National Transit Database Report, filed with the Federal Transit Administration
Source: The Authority's non-financial operational statistics.
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Dave Yost - Auditor of State

CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
FRANKLIN COUNTY
CLERK’S CERTIFICATION

This is atrue and correct copy of the report which is required to be filed in the Office of the
Auditor of State pursuant to Section 117.26, Revised Code, and which is filed in Columbus, Ohio.

isan Lubbitt

CLERK OF THE BUREAU

CERTIFIED
JULY 28, 2016

88 East Broad Street, Fourth Floor, Columbus, Ohio 43215-3506
Phone: 614-466-4514 or 800-282-0370 Fax: 614-466-4490
www.ohioauditor.gov
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